Stony Brook University



OFFICIAL COPY

The official electronic file of this thesis or dissertation is maintained by the University Libraries on behalf of The Graduate School at Stony Brook University.

© All Rights Reserved by Author.

LOW-POWER LOW-DATA-RATE ANALOG FRONT-END FOR NEURAL RECORDING SYSTEM

A Dissertation Presented

by

Donghwi Kim

 to

The Graduate School

in Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements

for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Electrical Engineering

Stony Brook University

May 2009

Stony Brook University

The Graduate School

Donghwi Kim

We, the dissertation committee for the above candidate for the Doctor of Philosophy degree, hereby recommend

acceptance of this dissertation.

Ridha Kamoua, Academic & Dissertation Advisor Associate Professor, Department of Electrical & Computer Engineering

Dmitri Donetski, Chairperson of Defense Assistant Professor, Department of Electrical & Computer Engineering

Milutin Stanaćević, Co-advisor Assistant Professor, Department of Electrical & Computer Engineering

> Jeffrey Ge Professor, Department of Mechanical Engineering

This dissertation is accepted by the Graduate School

Lawrence Martin Dean of the Graduate School

Abstract of the Dissertation

LOW-POWER LOW-DATA-RATE ANALOG FRONT-END FOR NEURAL RECORDING SYSTEM

by

Donghwi Kim

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Electrical Engineering

Stony Brook University

2009

An analog stage for multi-channel neural recording requires a number of wires comparable to the number of channels, leading to restriction of movement and poor scalability. To overcome this problem, an implantable neural recording system is desirable which is operated by a power and data transfer through wireless inductive coupling. However, a data-rate problem arises when recording from a large number of multichannel sensors in transcutaneous wireless systems, since the data rate is typically limited to few Mbps. With the limited bandwidth, a neural recording system having sampling rate of even few tens of KHz with 10-bit quantization resolution could handle only few channels of neural information simultaneously over a wireless link. A low-power low-data-rate analog front-end, for implantable neural recording system that can process 32-channel neural spikes as well as local field potential (LFP), is proposed.

32-channel low-power low-noise amplifiers with bandpass-characteristic filter stages were fabricated on AMI CMOS 0.6um technology and tested with a custom designed general purpose test station interfacing with PC. Additionally, a low-power low-noise preamplifier stage was fabricated on MITLL FD-SOI (Silicon on Insulator) 0.18um technology and tested. An efficient power harvesting system in CMOS for bio-implantable devices was designed and simulated. Based on experimental testing of the fabricated IC chips, improved designs of the analog front-end circuits were simulated, and an alternative approach for low-data-rate neural recording system was proposed.

Contents

	List	of Figures	viii
	List	of Tables	xiv
	Ack	nowledgments	xvi
1	Intr	roduction	1
2	Neı	aral Recording Sensors and System	3
	2.1	Neural Recording	3
	2.2	Multi-electrode Sensors for Central/Peripheral Nerves	4
	2.3	Biopotentials	7
	2.4	Existing Neural Recording Systems	8
3	Eleo	ctronics for Analog Signal Processing in Neural Recording	
	Sys	tems	15
	3.1	Band-Pass Characteristic Preamplifier	16
	3.2	Small Transconductance G_m Implementation	19
	3.3	Analog to Digital Converter	22

	3.4	Power Harvesting System for Bio-implantable Devices	24		
4	Low	w-Power Low-Noise Neural Amplifier			
	in O	26.18µm FD-SOI Technology			
	4.1	Summary	26		
	4.2	Introduction	27		
	4.3	Neural Amplifier Design	28		
		4.3.1 Symmetrical MOS resistor element	29		
		4.3.2 Low-Noise Low-Power OTA design	31		
		4.3.3 Common mode feedback circuit	34		
	4.4	Simulation Results	34		
	4.5	Measurements	36		
	4.6	Conclusion	43		
5	An	n Efficient Power Harvesting System 5			
	5.1	Summary	50		
	5.2	Introduction	51		
	5.3	Design of Charge Pump	53		
		5.3.1 Charge Pump Selection	54		
		5.3.2 Voltage Doubler Design and Operation	54		
	5.4	A CMOS Voltage Reference Design for Implantable Devices	56		
	5.5	An Efficient LDO regulator	59		
	5.6	Conclusions	61		
6	Low	v-Power High-Resolution 32-channel Neural Recording System	64		
	6.1	Summary	64		

	6.2	Introduction	
	6.3	Analog System Design for Neural Signal Acquisition	66
		6.3.1 Pre-amplifier Design	67
		6.3.2 Gain stage and buffer design	70
	6.4	Design of Low-Power High-Resolution ADC	71
	6.5	Simulation Results and Layout	72
	6.6	Measurements	72
	6.7	Improvements	78
	6.8	Conclusions	83
7	Ada	aptive Spike Detection for Low-Power Low-Data-Rate Wireles	s
	Neı	aral Recording System	88
	7.1	Summary	88
	7.2	Introduction	89
	7.3	Low-Power Low-Data-Rate System Design	90
		7.3.1 Pre-Amplifier Design	91
		7.3.2 Design for Two LPF-AMPs and HPF	93
		7.3.3 Adaptive Spike Detector using Absolute Value Algorithm	94
	7.4	Simulated Power Consumption and Data-Rate Improvement $\ . \ . \ .$	100
	7.5	A Low-Data-Rate Adaptive Spike Detection without Analog All-Pass	
		Filter	101
	7.6	Conclusions	103
8	Cor	clusion and Future Work	113
Bi	ibliog	graphy	115

List of Figures

2.1	Various Microelectrodes, Part of figures taken from [88])	5
3.1	Analog to digital interface for sensor arrays	16
3.2	Three topologies of preamplifiers insensitive to random DC inputs	17
3.3	Schematics of (a) a typical instrumentation OPAMP [79] (b) a	
	bandpass characteristic preamplifier [93].	19
3.4	Schematics of an operational transconductance amplifier. \ldots .	20
3.5	Block diagram of inductive coupling telemetry system for implantable	
	devices	25
4.1	Schematic of fully differential neural amplifier in MITLL $0.18\mu\mathrm{m}$ FD-	
	SOI Process.	29
4.2	Simulated current-voltage relationship of NMOS element (M_N in	
	Figure 4.1) for voltage Vb set at 0.2 V	31
4.3	Simulated current-voltage relationship of NMOS element (M_N in	
	Figure 4.1) for voltage Vb set at 0.6 V	32
4.4	Equivalent resistance of NMOS element as function of gate voltage Vb).	33

4.5	Schematic of operational transconductance amplifier used in low noise	
	amplifier	35
4.6	Schematic of continuous-time common mode feedback circuit \ldots	
4.7	Simulated transfer function of amplifier. Midband gain is 39.5dB. Low	
	frequency rolloff occurs at $0.000635 \mathrm{Hz},$ high frequency rolloff at $7.1 \mathrm{kHz}.$	
	Phase margin is 78 degrees.	37
4.8	Layout of the designed neural amplifier.	38
4.9	Microscope image for the first layer of the fabricated neural amplifier.	39
4.10	A daughter board equipped test station for the designed amplifier. $% \mathcal{A} = \mathcal{A}$.	40
4.11	A transient response in testing for the designed amplifier on FD-SOI.	
4.12	2 A FFT response for the captured transient response in the Figure 4.11.	
4.13	Amplifier structure and the capacitor names for the Monte Carlo	
	simulation.	44
4.14	Applied parameter variations in 100 times Monte Carlo Simulations at	
	room temperature. No capacitor mismatches applied.	45
4.15	Phase margins and magnitude responses for 100 times Monte Carlo	
	simulation. No capacitor mismatches applied.	45
4.16	Applied parameter variations in 100 times Monte Carlo Simulations at	
	room temperature. Capacitor values for mismatch1 in Table 4.4 were	
	applied	46
4.17	Phase margins and magnitude responses for 100 times Monte Carlo	
	simulation. Capacitor values for mismatch1 in Table 4.4 were applied.	46

4.18	Applied parameter variations in 100 times Monte Carlo Simulations at		
	room temperature. Capacitor values for mismatch2 in Table 4.4 were		
	applied.	47	
4.19	Phase margins and magnitude responses for 100 times Monte Carlo		
	simulation. Capacitor values for mismatch2 in Table 4.4 were applied.	47	
4.20	Applied parameter variations in 100 times Monte Carlo Simulations at		
	room temperature. Capacitor values for mismatch3 in Table 4.4 were		
	applied.	48	
4.21	Phase margins and magnitude responses for 100 times Monte Carlo		
	simulation. Capacitor values for mismatch3 in Table 4.4 were applied.	48	
4.22	Applied parameter variations in 100 times Monte Carlo Simulations at		
	room temperature. Capacitor values for mismatch4 in Table 4.4 were		
	applied.	49	
4.23	Phase margins and magnitude responses for 100 times Monte Carlo		
	simulation. Capacitor values for mismatch4 in Table 4.4 were applied.	49	
5.1	Simplified model of a inductively coupled system.	52	
5.2	Block diagram of power harvesting system.	52	
5.3	Schematic of charge pump using analog clamping and clock modulator.	56	
5.4	Circuit diagram of analog clamping and clock modulator.	57	
5.5	A capture of output and modulated clock signal for the charge pump.	58	
5.6	Schematic diagram of the designed CMOS voltage reference	60	
5.7	Simulated plot of reference voltage Vs. temperature.	61	
5.8	Power Supply Rejection Ratio (PSRR) for the designed voltage		
	reference	62	

5.9	Schematic diagram of 3.3V LDO	63
6.1	Schematic diagram of designed 32 channel neural recording system.	66
6.2	Schematic diagram for a channel of neuro front-end including (A)pre-	
	amplifier, (B)gain stage, and (C)buffer.	69
6.3	Schematic diagram of pre-amplifier with a continuous-time common	
	mode feedback circuit.	70
6.4	Frequency response of a neuro front-end.	71
6.5	Microscope image of the fabricated 32-channel neural recording system.	73
6.6	A custom designed motherboard	74
6.7	A picture of daughterboard-mounted test station	75
6.8	A transient response for the designed analog frontend	76
6.9	A FFT response for the captured transient response in Figure 6.8. $\ .$	77
6.10	Five corner simulation results for the designed preamplifer. \ldots .	78
6.11	Fiver corner simulation results for the designed frontend. \ldots	79
6.12	A newly designed amplifier for gain-LPF stage. Wide swing class AB	
	output stage is utilized.	81
6.13	Improved frontend magnitude response.	82
6.14	Improved frontend transient response.	84
6.15	Improved frontend differential response.	85
6.16	Improved preamp corner simulation	86
6.17	Improved LPF-AMP corner simulation.	86
6.18	Improved channel corner simulation.	87

7.1	A single-channel system diagram for the proposed adaptive neural	
	recording system.	92
7.2	Schematic diagram for a low-input-referred-noise pre-amplifier	93
7.3	A block diagram of the adaptive spike detector using absolute value	
	algorithm.	94
7.4	Typical specifications for a cerebral spike from a rat. This in-vivo data	
	was acquired by Cold Spring Harbor Lab., New York. The threshold	
	value was set by the adaptive spike detection algorithm in MATLAB.	95
7.5	Schematic diagram of LPF-AMP (left) and HPF (right) used in the	
	adaptive neural recording system.	96
7.6	Comparative views of adaptive spike detector without ABS (figure in	
	the first row) and with ABS (figure in the second row). The detected	
	spikes allow to produce time window signals (figure in the third row).	104
7.7	A schematic of the adaptive spike detector using absolute value.	
	An absolute value circuit was adopted to implement absolute value	
	algorithm and adaptive threshold set scheme was from Harrison's [132,	
	133]	105
7.8	Transient response of absolute value circuit.	106
7.9	Schematic diagram of switched comparator.	107
7.10	Schematic diagram of time window generator: (a)current reference	
	(b)resettable timer (c)comparator.	107
7.11	Transient response of the designed time window generator. Simulated	
	time window is holding high for $2.017mSec$ once a trigger is activated.	108
7.12	Transient simulation of adaptive spike detector for 150msec	109

7.13	Magnified view of spikes and the detection.	110
7.14	A first-order (A) and second-order (B) all-pass delay filter circuit	111
7.15	Magnitude and phase response of simulated 7th-order all-pass filter in	
	Cadence	111
7.16	Block diagram of adaptive spike detection without analog all-pass filter.	112

List of Tables

2.1	Summary of Biopotentials	8
2.2	Performance comparison of developed neural recording systems	
2.3	Performance comparison of commercially available neural recording	
	systems	14
4.1	Transistor sizes and their respective g_m/I_d ratios	34
4.2	Performance summary of designed neural amplifier	36
4.3	Target and Robustness Values for Global Parameters $[110]$	42
4.4	Applied Capacitance Variations for Monte Carlo Simulation	42
4.5	Magnitude and Bandwidth Responses for Monte Carlo Simulation $\ .$.	42
5.1	Summary of Simulated LDO Regulator	61
6.1	Parameters for simulated preamplifier.	72
6.2	Magnitude Response for Preamplifier Corner Simulation where	
	$V_{reg} = 0.514 \text{V} \dots \dots$	75
6.3	Magnitude Response for Whole Frontend Corner Simulation where	
	$V_{reg} = 0.514 \text{V} \dots \dots$	79
6.4	Simulation results for improved fully-differential preamplifier	80

6.5	Simulation results for improved differential gain-LPF stage	80
6.6	Magnitude Response for Improved Channel Corner Simulation where	
	$V_{reg} = 0.560 \text{V} \dots \dots$	83
7.1	Summary of Simulated Power Consumption	100
7.2	Produced Data-Rate by Proposed System.	100

Acknowledgments

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my dissertation advisor, Professor Ridha Kamoua. I thank him for giving motivation, encouragement, and guidance, without which, this work would not have been possible. His patience and understanding have helped me a lot through many difficult times.

I would also like to thank Professor Milutin Stanaćević for his great help on my research. My discussions with him have been very fruitful. I thank Professors Dmitri Donetski and Jeffrey Ge for taking the time to review my dissertation and providing valuable feedbacks.

I thank every member of both PNP lab. and Integrated Microsystems lab., Muling Peng, Lei Wang, Kunal Dhawan, Ram Gandhi, and Xiao Yun. It has been great pleasure to work and interact with them, and their help in both research and everyday life is very precious to me.

Additionally, I would also like to thank the staff of the ECE department, Maria, Judy, Carolyn, and Debbie for their support and Tony Olivio for the equipment support.

I thank Stony Brook University and the ECE department for giving me the opportunity to study and conduct research, which lead to this dissertation. My years at Stony Brook, to say the least, have been tremendously exciting, pleasant, and rewarding experience filled with many ups and downs. This would not have been possible without the friendship and kindness of all my friends. I would like to express my sincere gratitude for all of them.

Most of all, I thank my family, especially my mother, to whom I dedicate this work. Their years of hard work, sacrifices, as well as financial, emotional, and spiritual support have given me this opportunity, and I cannot say or do enough to thank them in my whole lifetime. Without their selfless love and support none of these would be possible.

Chapter 1

Introduction

There is a large demand for technologies that enable neuroscientists and clinicians to record the simultaneous activity of large numbers of neurons closely spaced (i.e., on order of 10μ m or less apart) in a central/peripheral nerve. Multielectrode neural recordings are becoming standard practice in basic neuroscience research, and the knowledge gained from these studies is a one of major requirements to both fundamental research in how spatial populations of somatosensory neurons encode mechanical stimuli (which occur during touch, joint movements, and muscle constractions) and the engineering of feedback-controlled functional electrical stimulation (FES) of muscles used in locomotion for paralysis victims. Recent advances in micro electro mechanical systems (MEMS) technology have produced small (less than 4mm in any dimension) arrays of microelectrodes containing as many as 100 recording sites [1, 2, 3]. Next-generation neural recording systems must be capable of observing 100 to 1000 neurons simultaneously in a fully implanted unit, and its integrated electronics should have characterizations of low-power, low-noise, low-data-rate, and small-area to be fully implanted in large quantities.

This work focuses on a low-power analog front-end suitable for wired/wireless, multi-channel neural recording system. It includes a novel power harvesting system which supplies stable power to be able to process neural data and communicate with the external device. Also, It presents the design, simulation, and testing of a CMOS 32-channel analog amplifier stages for wired neural recording system and a low-power low-noise neural amplifier in SOI process. Finally, it presents a design and simulation of a CMOS low-power low-data-rate wireless neural recording system. The simulation, test results, and the improvements for fabricated chips are summarized at the end of each chapter.

Chapter 2

Neural Recording Sensors and System

2.1 Neural Recording

The development of a direct neural interface with the central and/or peripheral nervous system has been a goal of the neuroscience and electrical/biomedical engineering communities for many decades [98, 5, 6, 7]. From the neuroscience perspective, it has become clear that to better understand how the peripheral and central nervous system function, we must be able to simultaneously monitor the responses of many neurons. This is because the nervous system processes in parallel information originating from the periphery (e.g., somatosensory neurons). For example, the simple act of depressing a key on a keyboard with one digit activates from the fingerpad alone an order of 300 cutaneous mechanosensitive neurons [8]. From the electrical/biomedical engineering perspective, it has been desired to restore sensory

and motor function to people who have suffered neurological defects from trauma or disease [9]. Real progress has occurred in recording from ensemble of neurons in the cortex using non-human primate and other mammalian models [10, 11], in development of a cochlear neural prosthesis in humans [14, 15, 16, 17], and intriguing results of a cortical visual neural prosthesis [18]. Technical developments from these areas give encouragement for the development of a general neural interface that could be used for any central/peripheral nerve. Sensory information carried in peripheral nerves is used not only for haptics (sense and touch), but also provides critical information used partially in muscle feedback control. For example, the lack of sensory information carried in the medial articular nerve in conjunction with instability of the anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) results in very rapid and progressive osteoarthrosis in a dog model [19, 20]. It has been shown that mechanosensitive neurons in the joint capsule will detect the increased loads due to ACL insufficiency [21], confirming the important role of sensory neurons in proprioceptive feedback.

2.2 Multi-electrode Sensors for Central/Peripheral Nerves

Multi-electrode sensors are commonly used micro-equipments to record electrical and chemical signals. They are widely implanted from a cerebral cortex to a peripheral nerves.

Multi-electrode sensors designed for recording neural responses from the cortex generally use one or two strategies. The most common consists of an array of single electrodes (a "bed of nails", See Figure 2.1(b)) that either penetrates through the



Figure 2.1: Various Microelectrodes, Part of figures taken from [88])

dura or is implanted on the surface of the cortex if the dura has been previously removed [10, 11, 12, 13, 1]. Another design is a single shaft onto which are etched recording locations [22, 23] (See Fig 2.1(a)). These designs allow a minimum linear spacial separation of about 100μ m and work reasonably well for the cortex where penetration to some depth is desirable and the network of neuron cells is on the same order of spatial separation. However, either of these designs is problematic in peripheral nerves, as the electrode spatial separations are too large for recording from adjacent neurons (i.e, their axons), which are more closely packed. Multiple, simultaneous single neuron recordings have been made from peripheral nerves

[24, 25, 26, 27], however these experimental approaches cannot achieve the density of recording needed for a true peripheral neuronal "population" study. There are three major types of electrodes that have been used for simultaneously recording multiple neurons in peripheral nerves: penetrating microelectrode arrays [28, 29] (Similar to Fig 2.1(b)), regeneration [30, 31, 32, 33] (See Fig 2.1(d)) and cuff [34, 35, 36, 37] (See Fig 2.1(c)). Penetrating microelectrodes (also termed intrafascicular electrodes) have been developed in one-, two-, and three-dimensional arrays using metal, glass, and silicon substrates. They resemble the cortical design in that single or multiple electrodes are inserted into a nerve. Designs have been implemented with up to twodozen electrodes [38], though limitations restrict the number of electrodes and their ability to record from axons spatially close together. In regeneration type electrodes, the nerve is fully transected and a sieve electrode array is implanted in between the two nerve ends. Suitable guidance channels are used to aid the axons in the nerve to regenerate through the holes. In principle and depending on the geometry and number of the holes, this electrode type could simultaneously record from many single neurons. However, this is obviously a highly invasive procedure and the regeneration of axons through the holes has had variable success [39], and has been further confounded by inappropriate and significantly incomplete innervation to the target areas [40]. In cuff type electrodes, the recording (and/or stimulating) surfaces encapsulate the whole nerve. Cuffs are less intrusive than regeneration type electrodes and are more amenable for chronic implantation, however they suffer from lack of selectivity in recording from specific regions within a nerve. Indeed, they cannot distinguish single neuron responses and are more typically used for whole nerve recordings (i.e., an integration of the neural responses of all the neurons) [41]. There has been a trial to improve the selectivity by reshaping the nerve through flattening [42, 44], which has theoretically shown to significantly improve the selectivity of recording or stimulating from cuff electrodes [43, 45]. Research is on-going to record from hundreds, if not thousands of somatotopically arranged (and closely spaced) sensory neurons in peripheral nerves.

2.3 Biopotentials

The potentials sensed with a electrode in an organ or body is called biopotentials and have a profusion of physiological information accompanying biochemical process. The potentials hold various amplitude ranging from 0.001mV to 30mV, depending where the electrode is placed. Table 2.1 summarizes the amplitude and bandwidth for different biopotentials, which electrical/biomedical engineers might be interested in. ECG (Electrocardiogram) can be detected from the heart and it has relatively large amplitude among biopotentials. It gives a clinical information in diagnostics of a heart function. On the other hand, EEG (Electroencephalogram) has the smallest amplitude and bandwidth among biopotentials, and is measured from the brain. EMG (Electromyogram) signal is utilized in any muscle diagnostic. In this work, we are focusing on neural spike and LFP (Local Field Potential) recording with bandwidth from 0.5Hz to 7KHz. The activity for a few nearby neurons can be observed as neural spikes by electrodes located in the brain, as well as LFP which is the internal correlate of the EEG signals observed on the scalp [89].

		T T T T T T T T T
Biopotentials	Amplitude (mV)	Bandwidth (Hz)
ECG	1~10	0.05~100
EEG	0.001~0.01	$0.5 \sim 40$
LFP	$0.05 \sim 1.2$	0.5~100
Neural Spike	0.02~1	300~7000
EMG	0.1~30	20~10000

Table 2.1: Summary of Biopotentials.

2.4 Existing Neural Recording Systems

Current state-of-the-art neural recording systems have evolved from few channels, remaining explant, wired recording, and large-area occupation to a high performance system for multi-channel (as many channels as possible), implantable, low-power, wireless recording, and small-area system. The recent published cutting-edged neural recording technology in [3] supports 100 recording channels with wireless feature. They are battery-less implantable system and operated by power harvesting technique, mainly inductance coupling principle typically used in RFID transponder. The acquired neural signals are digitized and transmitted outside of skin through inductive coil. This section reviews state-of-art neural recording systems presented in the past decade. Table 2.4 and 2.4 summarizes the published neural recording systems and commercially available systems respectively.

Many neural recording systems were developed and also currently being developed. J. Parramon and their research group lead by CNM-Barcelona has reported an implantable batteryless telemetric microsystem for EMG (electromyogram) recording [58]. It supports 2-channel recording simultaneously and is implanted in rabbits for their research studies regarding control of prosthesis through muscular biosignals. Power is transferred with a 10MHz inductive coupling within up to 10mm and the bit rate can be programmed at either 117kbps or 234kbps for outlink and 120kbps for inlink with a 8-bit on-chip ADC.

Andreas Neider et al. at RWTH Aachen developed a miniature FM-stereo radio transmitter to study brain-behavior interaction in unrestrained animals [57]. The miniature FM-stereo RF transmitter has been equipped on barn owls with two independent electrodes and recorded simultaneously from the brain of barn owl. The transmitted data was decoded and analyzed with the sorted neural spikes.

Pedro Irazoqui-Pastor et al. at UCLA have recorded continuous in-vivo EEG from un-tethered rodents using an inductively powered and implantable wireless neural recording device [125]. The 4-channel IC has been designed, fabricated, and packaged in $0.25cm^3$. It has been implanted in-vivo and used to record EEGs from an un-tethered rat. The recorded signal is transmitted as FM (Frequency Modulation) version superimposed on a 3.2GHz carrier wave.

P.Mohseni and K.Najafi et al. at the Center for Wireless Integrated MicroSystems (WIMS) at the University of Michigan presented a four-channel telemetric microsystem featuring on-chip FM transmission of neural spikes over a distance of 0.5m [52]. The designed IC was packaged together with three off-chip components on printed circuit board (PCB) board including two miniature 1.5V batteries. They demonstrated wireless recording of neural activity from the auditory cortex of an awake marmoset monkey at several transmission distances ranging from 10 to 50cm.

Two different researchers presented 16-channel neural amplifier array in 2003. G.A. DeMichele and P.R. Troyk et al. at Illinois Institute of Technology (IIT) presented general purpose 16-channel neural amplifier array combined with a UHF- FM transmitter [56]. I. Obeid and P.D. Wolf et al. from Duke University have also introduced 16-channel neural amplifiers [136]. The device was tested in vivo with electrode arrays implanted in the somatosensory cortex.

E.A.Johannessen et al. at University of Glasgow in UK have developed a microelectronic pill for in-situ studies of the gastro-intestinal tract, which incorporates a four-channel microsensor array for real-time determination of temperature, pH, conductivity, and oxygen [59]. The sensors were fabricated using electron beam and photolithographic pattern integration, and were controlled by an application specific integrated circuit (ASIC), which sampled the data with 10-bit resolution prior to communication off chip as a single interleaved data stream. An integrated radio transmitter sends the signal to a local receiver (base station), prior to data acquisition on a computer. Real-time wireless data transmission is presented from a model in vitro experimental setup, for the first time.

Shoji Takeuchi and Isao Shimoyama from University of Tokyo presented a neural recording system with FM transmitter and microelectrode [55]. They only use commercially available discrete components to build their system but its size and weight are only $15mm \times 8mm$ and 0.1g, respectively. The system was tested on a cockroach and the neural activity from the brain during a free-walk was successfully measured through the system. The system is driven by commercially available silver-oxide micro battery which can be attached on the edge of the board and is light enough to be carried by an insect [71].

Rio J. Vetter et al at the University of Michigan studied the recording performance of silicon-substrate micromachined probes in terms of reliability and signal quality [61]. They used a 16-channel probe for studying and neural recording using a commercial 12-bit multichannel recording system provided by Plexon, Inc., Dallas, TX. Recordings were made daily for the first four weeks and then at least once weekly thereafter, from cerebral cortex. The extracellular signals were sampled at 40kHz and bandpass filtered from 450-5000Hz.

C. Chestek et al. at Case Western Reserve University (CWRU) introduced the design of a bio-compatible, implantable neural recording device for Aplysia californica, a common sea slug [64]. Extracellular neural signals ($<100\mu$ V) were recorded using their preamplifier that is integrated with programmable data acquisition and control, and FSK telemetry that provides 5*Kbps* wireless neural data through 18*cm* of saltwater. A 8-cm electric dipole antenna was utilized by exposing the ends of the antenna to the saltwater and a 3*V* lithium ion battery was equipped to the recording. Neural data obtained from nerve electrodes and a wired interface to this device have $2.5\mu V_{rms}$ noise.

Roy H. Olsson III and Kendall D. Wise at the University of Michigan developed a 32-channel 256-site, fully implantable, 3-D neural recording microsystem [51]. A 4-set of 8-channel end up with 256-site recording. one channel (8-site) is selected by a multiplexer and digitized by 5-bit successive approximation ADC. They have employed a compression technique to minimize the generated data-rate since the allowable data-rate through transcutaneous wireless system is currently limited to 2.5Mbps [50].

Reid Harrison et al. have designed a low-power integrated circuit for a wireless 100-electrode neural recording system. The complete system receives power and commands wirelessly over a 2.64MHz inductive link and transmits neural data back at a data rate of 330Kbps using a fully integrated 433MHz FSK transmitter. Data

reduction was performed by combination of a low-power 10-bit SAR ADC and an array of spike detectors.

Commercially available neural recording systems are listed in the Table 2.4. Most of them [68, 69, 70] have wired interface which is not desirable due to movement restriction. ADinstruments supports wireless interface but only 8-channels can be recorded simultaneously.

	Chan-Reso-		Sampling	Size	Total	Power	Wire	Year
	nels	lution	Rate		Wt.	Diss.		
[54]	4	No	12KHz	$1 \times 1 \times 0.5$	1 <i>g</i>	0.41mW	Wireless	2006
		ADC		cm^3				
[125]	1	No	N/A	$5 \times 5 \times 10$	N/A	5.8mW	Wireless	2003
		ADC		mm^3				
[126]	3	No	70~	$1.8 \times 1.3 \times 0.16$	1.1 <i>g</i>	2.44mW	Wireless	2003
		ADC	138KHz	cm^3				
[55]	1	No	N/A	$1.5 \times 0.8 \ cm^2$	0.1g	10mW	Wireless	2004
		ADC						
[56]	16	No	N/A	N/A	N/A	18mW	Wireless	2003
		ADC						
[52]	3	No	N/A	$1.7 \times 1.2 \times 0.16$	1.1g	2.2mW	Wireless	2005
		ADC		cm^3				
[57]	2	No	N/A	$2.5 \times 1 \times 0.5$	3.1g	N/A	Wireless	2000
		ADC		cm^3				
[58]	2	8-bit	30MHz	$1.1 \times 1.1 \times 0.7$	N/A	22.5mW	Wireless	1997
				cm^3				
[59]	4	10-bit	32KHz	$1.6 \times 5.5 cm^2$	13.5g	12.1mW	Wireless	2004
[60]	16	No	N/A	$15 \times 17 mm^2$	N/A	N/A	Wire	2005
		ADC						
[61]	16	12-bit	40KHz	\sim	N/A	N/A	Wire	2004
		(Off)		$1.5 \times 0.8 cm^2$				
[136]	16	No	N/A	\sim	N/A	N/A	Wire	2003
		ADC		$9.5 \times 19 mm^2$				
[62]	16	12-bit	20KHz	N/A	N/A	N/A	Wireless	2005
[63]	N/A	10-bit	2MHz	N/A	N/A	N/A	Wireless	2001
[64]	8	8-bit	5Kbps	N/A	N/A	N/A	Wireless	2005
		(Off)						
[65]	32	> 8-bit	2MHz	$4 \times 6mm^2$	N/A	90mW	Wireless	2005
[51]	64	5-bit	20KHz	$\sim 11 mm^2$	N/A	\sim	Wireless	2005
						3.2mW		
[3]	100	10-bit	15Ksps	$27.3mm^2$	N/A	13.5mW	Wireless	2007
[66]	96	12-bit	30Ksps	see [66]	16g	N/A	Wire	2006
	(Max	.)(Off)						

Table 2.2: Performance comparison of developed neural recording systems.

	Chan-	Reso-	Sampling	Application	Total	Power	Wire
	nels	lu-	Rate		Wt.	Diss.	
		tion					
ADinstruments	8	12-	2KHz	small animal	18g	N/A	Wire-
[67]		bit		EEG/ECG			less
Neuronexus [68]	16/32	No	N/A	chronic probe	N/A	N/A	Wire
		ADC					
Cyberkinetics [69]	128	16-	30Ksps	data	N/A	N/A	Wire
		bit		acquisition			
Triangle	16/32	No	N/A	neural signal	0.75g	N/A	Wire
Biosystems [70]		ADC		acquisition			

Table 2.3: Performance comparison of commercially available neural recording systems.

Chapter 3

Electronics for Analog Signal Processing in Neural Recording Systems

The analog signals collected from the neural sensors have to be amplified, digitized and processed to extract the desired information. There are several challenges in designing a fully integrated analog-to-digital interface for this type of application. The circuitry has to dissipate low power (to accommodate as many channels as possible), it has to be low-noise (because of the low level amplitude of the neural signals), and insensitive to the random DC offset developed at the electrodeelectrolyte interface.

The amplified signal can be modulated by analog modulation scheme such as FM however it is still susceptible to noise, channel interference, and cross-talk in the multichannel environment. To make it robust, high noise-immune transmission, and independent of channel-interference and cross-talk, the amplified and collected neural data must be converted to digital domain in proximity to the recording site.

An approach for analog-to-digital interface for sensor arrays is presented in Figure 3.1. The system consists of an array of low-noise neural amplifiers, an analog multiplexer and one or several analog-to-digital converters (ADCs, the number of ADC can be determined by power consumption estimation for the whole system).



Figure 3.1: Analog to digital interface for sensor arrays

3.1 Band-Pass Characteristic Preamplifier

The most critical block in Figure 3.1 is the low-noise preamplifier ("AMP" in Figure 3.1). Its gain should be precisely controlled and it should reject the input random DC component without affecting the electrical signals generated by the peripheral nerves under study. Therefore, the frequency characteristic of the amplifiers must be a band-pass type with the lower pass-band edge of 1Hz (preferably less than 1Hz) and the upper edge of 7kHz (or up to 10KHz). Several solutions



Figure 3.2: Three topologies of preamplifiers insensitive to random DC inputs

have been previously proposed in the literature to satisfy these design constraints. One possible implementation [72, 73] uses a low-pass filter (LPF) in the feedback path of an op-amp to obtain the desired high-pass characteristic at low frequencies (Figure 3.2(a)). Reference [72] uses a degenerate LPF, an integrator, to completely remove the DC component of the input signal, while in reference [73] a second-order RC filter is utilized to reduce by approximately 40dB the DC gain of the overall amplifier. The second approach [93, 74, 75, 76] for eliminating the input random DC offset is shown in Figure 3.2(b) where a low frequency high-pass RC filter is present at the front-end of the amplifier. The third approach [77, 78] to make bandpass characteristic is shown in Figure 3.2(c) where a cascade of first-order high-pass filter and first-order low-pass filter based on RC primitives has been used. The main design issue in all three cases illustrated in Figure 3.2 is the on-chip implementation of very large RC time constants. To make a very large RC time constant, an

external capacitor is employed in [72], but obviously such a solution is impractical for multiple channel implantable systems. Reference [73] uses reverse-biased junction diodes to implement high-value resistors (of the order $10^{10}\Omega$) while maintaining the capacitor values appropriate for integrated circuits. However, this approach suffers from optical drift, which reduces their reliability. References [75, 76] use a laser programmable resistor to bias a transistor which is utilized for creating low cutoff frequency of the desired high-pass filter. But this solution needs a post-fabrication process of laser trimming (which is rather expensive) and might be an impediment to the mass production of the device. References [77, 78] use capacitors for both transconductor input and output to increase small linear range which is the main drawback of the operational transconductance amplifier. However, this approach is originally considered for only band-pass function so that it needs another gain stage. References [93, 74] use two terminal pseudo MOS-bipolar resistors to set high time constant. Although the voltage difference between two terminals should be stable to maintain a constant RC time constant it allows a very simple implementation of large time constant. MOS-bipolar pseudo-resistor is a diode-connected two-terminal MOS transistor but it has very high resistance (almost $10^{12}\Omega$ if small voltage difference is guaranteed between two terminals). Figure 3.3(b) shows the structure of band-pass characteristic preamplifier using MOS-bipolar pseudo-resistor. The circuit structure is similar to the typical instrumentation amplifier (Figure 3.3(a)) but with a capacitor at each input to remove DC offset, making very large time constant together with MOS-bipolar pseudo-resistor.

The transfer function of the band-pass characteristic preamplifier in Figure 3.3(b) can be derived as equation (3.1).


Figure 3.3: Schematics of (a) a typical instrumentation OPAMP [79] (b) a bandpass characteristic preamplifier [93].

$$V_{out} = \frac{S\frac{C_1}{C_2}}{\frac{1}{RC_2} + S} (V_{neg} - V_{pos})$$
(3.1)

where R refers to resistance of MOS-bipolar pseudo-resistor.

Instead of gate-source or gate-drain connection of the pseudo MOS-bipolar device, the gate voltage can be utilized as a biasing input to set an arbitrary resistance. The MOS transistor is operated in the weak inversion region.

3.2 Small Transconductance G_m Implementation

In recent years there has been considerable research effort in the development of operational transconductance amplifiers (OTA) with very small transconductance. It is widely used in bio-medical sensor interfaces to implement filters and amplifiers. Several OTA topologies have been developed to achieve transconductances in the order of a few nA/V with linear range up to 1.5V [80, 81, 82, 101, 84, 85].



Figure 3.4: Schematics of an operational transconductance amplifier.

Lloyd Watts and Carver A. Mead introduced subthrehold MOS transconductance amplifier with increased linear range [80] in 1992. They used source degeneration scheme to extend linear region of OTA and applied it into silicon cochlea. Figure 3.4 shows the transconductance amplifier biased in subthreshold applied in the original cochlea circuit. The transconductance amplifier biased in subthreshold has a hyperbolic tangent transfer characteristic and the transconductance can be scalable via one or two diode-connected transistors on each side of the differential pair as a source degeneration. The scaled current is given by equation (3.2).

$$I_{out} = I_{bias} \tanh(\frac{k_s(V_P - V_N)}{2V_T})$$
(3.2)

where $k_s = k$, $k_s = k^2/(k+1)$, and $k_s = k^3/(k^2+k+1)$ for no diode-connected transistor each side, one diode-connected transistor each side, and two diode-

connected transistor each side, respectively. The constant k is the same as inverse of body-effect coefficient n (n=1.6 for typical bulk CMOS process). V_T is thermal voltage of kT/q. We expect degeneration with one diode per side to widen the linear range by a factor of 2.4, and expect degeneration with two diodes per side to widen the range by a factor of 4.4. The price for the increased linear range is a decrease in the common-mode operating range and increased thermal noise injection.

A more advanced linearlization technique was introduced in 1997 [82]. Rahul Sarpeshkar, Richard F. Lyon, and Carver Mead obtained wide linear range by widening the *tanh* or decreasing the ratio of transconductance to bias current. They used several techniques such as a use of well terminals of the input differential pair transistors as the amplifier inputs, source degeneration introduced in [80], gate degeneration, and bump realization [119] to widen linear region and reduce transconductance.

A good comparative study among various schemes in terms of performance characteristics such as power consumption, active silicon area, and signal to noise ratio (SNR) is reported in 2002 [101]. Four different design techniques for obtaining low transconductances were analyzed and compared among them. These techniques were referred to as reference OTA, OTA with Current Division and Source Degeneration (SD+CD), Floating-Gate OTA with Current Division (FG+CD), and Bulk Driven OTA with Current Division (BD+CD).

A pico-ampere per volt range CMOS transconductor with 0.15mV linear range was presented in 2003 [84]. The use of complex OTA architectures also increases noise, mismatch offset, and transistor area leading design trade-offs as [101], a relatively simple and area efficient series-parallel current division scheme was applied to the simple OTA. N-number of NMOS current mirrors and N-unity transistors are placed in series or in parallel to achieve an effective output transconductance of $G_m = g_{in}/N^2$, where g_{in} is input transconductance of the OTA.

A different approach to get very small transconductance is introduced in [85]. Cascading of basic transconductance and transimpedance (g_m^{-1}/g_m) elements was used to achieve a very small overall transconductance. The effective overall transconductance of the chain is the product of the transfer functions of the single stages, which allows transconductance reduction to any desired level by adding more stages to the chain. Compared to the current division approach introduced in [101], this cascading of transconductance and transimpedance approach saves silicon area and power. Because, to decrease the transconductance further in the current division approach, the mirror transistor ratios must be increased, which leads to large silicon area and sets a limit to the maximum achievable time constant.

3.3 Analog to Digital Converter

To make robust, high noise-immune transmission, and independent of channelinterference and cross-talk, the amplified and collected neural data must be converted to digital domain; On-chip analog to digital conversion is required. A neural recording system in spike detection normally prefers a high resolution of over 10-bit. For the high-resolution ADCs, delta-sigma ADC is usually considered but it suffers from idle tones while converting very low frequency signal [86, 87], which is major neural signal bandwidth. The first order incremental A/D converter [86, 87] can be a solution for digital conversion of frequency range up to few hundreds Hz. It characterizes a hybrid between a Nyquist-rate dual slope converter and an oversampling Delta-Sigma converter. The main difference to the dual slope converter is the fixed integration period while varying in dual slope converter. It is also very similar to oversampling Delta-Sigma modulator in structure but has a reset-able integrator and counter.

The main drawback of such an incremental Delta-Sigma converter is long required time for one sample conversion. It depends largely on the resolution of converter, leading to high power consumption. The conversion periods are increased to factor of 2 for one bit resolution increment. The required clock frequency can be equated to $F_{clock}=F_{sample}(2^{N}+2)$, where F_{clock} refers required clock frequency, F_{sample} is the sampling frequency, and N is ADC resolution. Because of this, for the higher frequency range up to 10KHz which is highest frequency bandwidth of neural signals, the first order incremental ADC may not be a suitable solution.

Area and power might be two major constraints in designing an ADC in neural recording system. One option suitable under these constraints is the use of extended counting ADC [96, 129]. Extended counting ADC performs combined conversion sequence of first order incremental ADC and algorithmic ADC. In other words, for one A/D conversion, the converter passes through two stages. In the first stage, the converter acts as a first-order incremental converter to convert the most significant bits. Then in the second stage, the same hardware is used to convert the least significant bits by an algorithmic A/D conversion technique. By extended counting ADC, the required conversion time per one conversion can be dramatically reduced compared to the first order incremental ADC. For example, the required number of clocks per one sample of 13-bit A/D conversion is 16.5 with double sampling feature [129]. Another option for the digital conversion in neural recording can be a ratio-independent algorithmic ADC [128]. The total conversion time per one A/D conversion is linearly proportional to the resolution as 4N, where N is resolution. However, it uses only one amplifier and one latch to the complete conversion while most similar structures need one additional comparator with an amplifier and a latch. Less power consumption can be expected by this property. Additional power saving was achieved by a dynamically biased operational amplifier.

3.4 Power Harvesting System for Bio-implantable Devices

In order to supply enough power for neural signal processing in an implantable system, most interfaces capable of transmitting the neural information use wires. An analog stage for multi-channel recording requires a number of wires equal to the number of channels, leading to restriction of movement and poor scalability. Indeed, studies have shown that exposure of enriched environment is beneficial for faster recovery from brain injuries [46, 47]. In order to avoid the spacial confinement, a wireless neural recording system supplied by small battery can be equipped as an option however it is still too large to fit in cranial implantation. Additionally, it requires a hole to be implanted with the battery in skull, leading a serious infection to the epidermis [48, 49]. Safer and promising alternative to the problem is using wireless power transfer or harvesting through inductive coupling. The initial principle of the techniques was taken from RFID communication [137]. Testing and emulating the effect of human tissue by introducing water bearing colloids between two coils, it was shown that the power transfer through inductive coupling within short distance

results in high efficiency [123]. The block diagram of an inductive coupling power harvesting system for implantable devices is illustrated in Figure 3.5. The transponder (in the right side of the figure) consists of a clock recovery, a power recovery, and a modulation/data processing block. The reader (in the left side of the figure) supplies power through inductive coupling and recover data from a transponder side.



Figure 3.5: Block diagram of inductive coupling telemetry system for implantable devices.

Chapter 4

Low-Power Low-Noise Neural Amplifier in 0.18µm FD-SOI Technology

4.1 Summary

For recording of neural signals from large population of neurons, stringent constraints are imposed on the design of neural amplifiers. We have designed neural amplifier in Fully Depleted Silicon-on-Insulator (FD-SOI) technology in order to achieve lower power consumption, smaller area, and better noise efficiency factor compared to the standard bulk processes. A symmetric pseudo resistor was realized with resistances on the order of $10^{15}\Omega$, enabling a low cut-off frequency of 0.6mHz. The designed neural amplifier occupies an area of $0.004mm^2$, with simulated performance demonstrating an input-referred noise of $3.07\mu V_{rms}$ and a power consumption of 6μ W. The fabricated chip was tested and the improvements are discussed.

4.2 Introduction

The development of a direct neural interface with the central and/or peripheral nervous system has been a goal of the neuroscience and biomedical engineering communities for many decades. The knowledge gained from neural recording is one of the main requirements to both fundamental research in how spatial population of somatosensory neurons encode mechanical stimuli (which occur during touch, joint movements, and muscle constrictions) and the engineering feedback-controlled functional electrical stimulation (FES) of muscles used in locomotion for paralysis victims [98, 99].

The most critical block in neural recording system is low-power low-noise neural amplifier which is the first stage in the neural recording system. There have been considerable research efforts in the design of low-power low-noise neural amplifiers in recent years in bulk CMOS processes [93, 100, 102, 103, 104]. MOS-bipolar pseudoresistor element was used to achieve very low cut-off frequency in these designs.

To achieve lower power consumption, smaller area, and better noise efficiency factor, FD-SOI process [107], was used in the design of the amplifier. FD-SOI process results in parasitic capacitance reduction due to dielectric reduction, smaller leakage current, and high noise immunity from on-chip digital circuitry [108, 109]. Since the conventional bulk CMOS technology has the serious drawback of high leakage current as the transistor feature size is scaled down, design in bulk CMOS technology would meet an unavoidable problem in terms of power and noise, which are the most important metrics for neural amplifier design. As the design of neural recording system targets to implement fully implantable chip with integrated power harvesting and telemetry, neural amplifiers and analog-to-digital converters, integration of such a system in 3D technology could offer considerable advantages. Different functional blocks of the system could be designed in different vertical tiers, reducing significantly the overall area and decreasing the effects of interconnections. For example, large inductor needed for power harvesting in inductive coupling link could be designed in back RF metal layer and could occupy the whole 2D area of the chip on that metal level.

We designed low-power, high noise-efficiency-factor (NEF) neural recording amplifier having a fully differential structure to minimize the effects from digital circuitry and fully symmetric MOS resistor element. Simulation results are presented in the following section.

4.3 Neural Amplifier Design

Figure 4.1 shows the schematic of amplifier design. The whole structure of the neural amplifier is similar to previous design [100] so that the midband gain A_M is set by C_1/C_2 , and the bandwidth by g_m/A_MC_L , where g_m is the transconductance of the operational transconductance amplifier (OTA).



Figure 4.1: Schematic of fully differential neural amplifier in MITLL 0.18 μ m FD-SOI Process.

4.3.1 Symmetrical MOS resistor element

The cut-off frequency of DC rejecting high-pass filter has to be set at very low value, in mHz range, due to frequency content of the neural signal. To avoid using large off-chip capacitor, large on-chip resistor is needed. Using MOS transistor operating in subthreshold region as a high-resistive element was first proposed in [105]. In [93], MOS-bipolar devices acting as pseudoresistors are used to create high floating resistances in the range from $10^{11}\Omega$ to $10^{14}\Omega$. However, the diode-connected PMOS devices give unsymmetrical resistance. For the negative V_{GS} voltage, the devices behave as diode connected PMOS transistors, while for the positive V_{GS} , they behave as parasitic p-n-p bipolar transistors. The resistance will depend on the sign of voltage across the transistor. This causes dependance of the cut-off frequency of the high-pass filter on the input signal and introduces distortion of the output signal. The value of the resistance is not controlled.

In FD-SOI process, MOS transistor operating in subthreshold can provide higher resistance than in bulk process and also a symmetrical one with respect to sign of the voltage across it. If the gate voltage is much lower than drain and source voltage for NMOS transistor, lower than 300mV for minimum size square transistor, the equivalent circuit represents two back-to-back diodes between source and drain. Figure 4.2 shows the simulated current-voltage characteristic of NMOS transistor, with size of $0.6\mu m \times 0.6\mu m$, with the gate voltage fixed at 0.2V and voltage across the pseudo-resistor varied from -200mV to 200mV, with the common-mode value set at 750mV. The equivalent resistance is on the order of $10^{15}\Omega$ for a linear region of almost 200 mV and is not dependent on the gate voltage. If the gate voltage is further increased, the transistor will behave as transistor in subthreshold region with the body-effect coefficient being almost equal to one in the bulk-process, as the body is not fully depleted until gate voltage is lower than drain-source voltage. Figure 4.3 shows the simulated current-voltage characteristic of NMOS transistor for this case with the gate voltage fixed at 0.6V. The dependence of the equivalent resistance on the biasing voltage V_b of the NMOS element (M_N in Figure 4.1) is shown in Figure 4.4.

To reduce the distortion due to large output signals two series connected pseudo MOS elements can be used so that the total time constant is set to $2R_MC_2$, where R_M refers to resistance of pseudo MOS element. Therefore, the low cut-off frequency of neural amplifier is determined by $1/(2\pi 2R_MC_2)$.



Figure 4.2: Simulated current-voltage relationship of NMOS element $(M_N$ in Figure 4.1) for voltage Vb set at 0.2 V.

4.3.2 Low-Noise Low-Power OTA design

Since FD-SOI devices offer near-ideal body effect coefficient of unity (1.6 for bulk CMOS device), they are expected to have 30-40 percent higher saturation current than in a bulk devices with similar parameters [108]. This makes it possible to achieve the same performance at lower power level.

Figure 4.5 presents the schematic of operational transconductance amplifier (OTA) [93, 100, 101]. Basic circuit structure is a current-mirror based OTA [106] with two cascode transistors for each output. Since there is no noise contribution for adding cascode transistors they can be used to increase OTA gain without affecting the performance. Also, the output voltage swing is limited by the linear range of the high-resistive element, not by the cascode transistors. The main trade-offs in the OTA design are between noise, power, and stability. If we only consider the



Figure 4.3: Simulated current-voltage relationship of NMOS element $(M_N$ in Figure 4.1) for voltage Vb set at 0.6 V.

power consumption, the maximum performance may be obtained when the value of the transconductance/drain current ratio (g_m/I_d) is the largest. However, the input referred thermal noise of OTA is given as

$$\overline{v_{in,thermal}^2} = \frac{16kT}{3g_{m1}} \left[1 + \frac{g_{m3}}{g_{m1}} + \frac{\frac{g_{m3}^2}{g_{m5}}}{g_{m1}} + \frac{g_{m7}\frac{g_{m3}^2}{g_{m5}^2}}{g_{m1}}\right]\Delta f \tag{4.1}$$

 g_m/I_d ratio and size of transistors should be considered to minimize input referred thermal noise contribution. As total power consumption is determined by biasing current, we have chosen a lower biasing current. From the noise analysis, input transistors M_1 and M_2 should be sized with as large W/L ratio as possible so that a maximum g_m/I_d ratio is obtained. In the same manner, the noise contribution of transistors M_3 through to M_8 can be minimized by choosing small W/L ratio



Figure 4.4: Equivalent resistance of NMOS element as function of gate voltage Vb).

or minimizing g_m/I_d ratio. Increasing the length of these transistors gives rise to parasitic capacitances, causing second pole of OTA to move closer to dominant pole created by load capacitor C_L and reduces phase margin. This effect is reduced in FD-SOI process, since the parasitic capacitance is smaller than in bulk process and larger phase margin is obtained. Further minimization of noise contribution can be achieved by sizing transistors M_5 and M_6 properly so as to make higher $g_{m5,6}/I_d$ ratio than $g_{m3,4}/I_d$ ratio. Effect of flicker or 1/f noise is minimized by choosing pMOS transistor for inputs and by increasing gate area of the transistors in design. The input transistors M_1 and M_2 are designed as H-gate transistors with separate source bulk connection to improve the matching between them at the expense of increased area. The sizes of all transistors in OTA and their respective g_m/I_d ratios are given in Table 4.1.

Device	$W/L(\mu m)$	$I_d(\mu A)$	$g_m/I_d(V^{-1})$
$M_{1,2}$	210/0.5	1	34.08
$M_{3,4}$	0.6/9.6	1	5.22
$M_{5,6}$	1/9.6	1	7.14
$M_{7,8}$	1.6/6	1	4.62
$M_{9,10}$	3.2/0.8	1	11.33
$M_{11,12}$	1.6/0.8	1	24.86
$M_{13,14}$	8/4	2	8.33

Table 4.1: Transistor sizes and their respective g_m/I_d ratios.

4.3.3 Common mode feedback circuit

For the implementation of common-mode feedback circuit, we have chosen continuous-time circuit shown in Figure 4.6. The common-mode output voltage is set to $V_{DD}/2$ or 0.75V. If the output common-mode level increases, current of M_{15} and M_{18} will increase and the current of $M_{16,17}$ will decrease. This causes increment in V_{CMFB} and makes the V_{SG} of $M_{7,8}$ decrease, followed by decrease in common-mode output voltage.

4.4 Simulation Results

The circuit was simulated using Cadence SpectreS simulator with BSIMSOI version 3.1 level 11 transistor model. Since the desirable amplifier gain is 40dB or 100, we set C_1 to 5pF and C_2 to 50fF. The lower parasitic capacitances in FD-SOI process enable use of smaller capacitors in the design of amplifier, significantly reducing the area of the amplifier. 8.5pF capacitors are used as load capacitor, C_L . Figure 4.7 presents the simulated transfer function of neural amplifier. Table 4.2 shows the performance summary of the designed neural amplifier. The gain was simulated as



Figure 4.5: Schematic of operational transconductance amplifier used in low noise amplifier

39.5dB in passband, from 0.000635Hz to 7.1kHz. The simulated phase margin was 78 degrees. The low cutoff frequency is 0.000635Hz which is quite low due to very high resistance of symmetrical resistor. Since we use only 2μ A as biasing current total supply current is almost 4μ A leading to total power consumption of 6μ W. The current consumption from biasing circuits is excluded here. Integrated input referred noise was simulated as $3.07\mu V_{rms}$ and the noise efficiency factor (NEF) is calculated as 2.8. 1/f noise parameters are currently not available, but we are expecting that 1/fnoise contribution would not increase the noise level significantly, as shown in [93]. The layout of the amplifier occupies an area of $0.004mm^2$ and is shown in Figure 4.8.



Figure 4.6: Schematic of continuous-time common mode feedback circuit

4.5 Measurements

The designed neural amplifier was fabricated through MIT Lincoln Laboratory $0.18\mu m$ 3-Tier FD-SOI technology. The amplifier was designed on the Tier one while an ADC is on the Tier 2 and power recovery circuit with a coil was fabricated on the Tier 3. Figure 4.9 shows a microscope image for the fabricated chip. Only Tier 3 can

Parameter	Neural Amplifier in SOI
Supply voltage	1.5V
Supply current	$4\mu A$
Gain	39.5dB
Phase margin	78 degrees
Low frequency cutoff	$635 \mu \text{Hz}$
High frequency cutoff	7.1kHz
Input referred noise(μV_{rms})	3.07
Noise efficiency factor	2.8
Area	$0.004 \ mm^2$

Table 4.2: Performance summary of designed neural amplifier



Figure 4.7: Simulated transfer function of amplifier. Midband gain is 39.5dB. Low frequency rolloff occurs at 0.000635Hz, high frequency rolloff at 7.1kHz. Phase margin is 78 degrees.

be taken by microscope, therefore we can see a big coil on it.

The chip is tested with a custom designed general purpose mixed signal test station equipped with PC interface as well as 32-channel analog frontend introduced in Chapter 6. The test station is interfaced to PC through data acquisition card NI-6259 (National Instruments) for characterization and real time measurement. Test station is comprised of a motherboard and a daughter board. A motherboard consists of interface circuitry to PC and FPGA, digital-to-analog converters for providing biasing voltages, 3.3V power regulators. A daughter board contains the designed



Figure 4.8: Layout of the designed neural amplifier.

ASIC with a socket and interface connectors providing a connection flexibility to motherboard through wire-up. Figure 4.10 shows a picture of the teststation that is the daughter board equipped on a motherboard. The testing environments are the same as what we have done in 32-channel analog frontend design except daughter board I/O interface.

The chip is supplied by a 1.5V powered by analog output from NI-6259 card. It has total 18 pin interfaces: 2 signal inputs, 12 voltage biasing, 2 signal outputs, one Vdd, and a ground.

Figure 4.11 and 4.12 presents a capture of measured transient response for the designed FD-SOI preamplifier and the FFT plot, respectively. It characterizes a gain of 1.5 with 60Hz power line interference at 1KHz 3mV input sinusoid wave. It also



Figure 4.9: Microscope image for the first layer of the fabricated neural amplifier.

shows a deviated common-mode voltage which is out of control. There can be possibly several reasons for this behavior. One can be the transistor operating region. Four NMOS transistors M3, M4, M5, M6 in Figure 4.5 and two current sources M20 and M21 in the Figure 4.6 were not operated in the deep saturation region. Actually, they are under moderate inversion region and have been designed as too long transistors to minimize input referred noise. Additionally, the threshold voltage might be subject to a lot variation among transistors on the same die which is major drawback of Fully depleted SOI technology. The corner simulation and mismatch Monte Carlo simulation can be utilized to see the imperfections but unfortunately only mismatch Monte Carlo simulation is available at this time from MIT process provider. The 100-times statistical transistor mismatch were simulated by Monte Carlo simulation and plotted from the Figure 4.15 to 4.22. Also, package parasitic capacitance and



Figure 4.10: A daughter board equipped test station for the designed amplifier.

resistance as well as PCB board parasitics might affect to the performance.

MITLL provides NMOS and PMOS variation models for the Monte Carlo simulation but not capacitor variation model. The capacitor might have only ± 1 percent capacitance variation but we have assumed ± 5 percent variations for capacitors C_1, C_2, C_3 , and C_4 in Figure 4.13 and run Monte Carlo simulation with extreme combinations of capacitance variation. Table 4.4 summarizes the applied capacitance combinations for 5 Monte Carlo simulations: Normal, Mismatch1, Mismatch2, Mismatch3, and Mismatch4. For each capacitance mismatch combination, 100 times Monte Carlo simulations at $27^{\circ}C$ were performed with variations of threshold voltage (VTHO), physical length (LINT), and width (WINT). The parameters var-n-vtho, var-p-vtho, var-lint, and var-wint linearly sum respectively with the default VTHO, WINT, and LINT parameters in the NMOS and PMOS, thus simulating a linear threshold voltage and physical dimension shift. The applied variations for parameters var-wint, var-lint, var-p-vtho, and var-n-vtho,



Figure 4.11: A transient response in testing for the designed amplifier on FD-SOI.

during simulation are shown through Figures 4.14, 4.16, 4.18, 4.20, and 4.22 for corresponding capacitance mismatch. The variation values are applied with a little bit bigger values than MITLL's collected data. Their process target range and robustness range was borrowed in Table 4.3. A magnitude and phase margin was also plotted for each case, and Figure 4.15, 4.17, 4.19, 4.21, and 4.23 represent magnitude and phase margin variations. Table 4.5 summarizes the maximum and minimum values for magnitude and bandwidth variations.

 Table 4.3: Target and Robustness Values for Global Parameters [110]

Parameter	Target min.	Target max.	Robust min.	Robust max.
VAR-N-VTHO	-75mV	+75mV	-200mV	+100mV
VAR-P-VTHO	-75mV	+75mV	-100mV	+100mV
VAR-LINT	-20 <i>nm</i>	+20nm	-30 <i>nm</i>	+30nm
VAR-WINT	-50 <i>nm</i>	+50nm	-	-

Table 4.4: Applied Capacitance Variations for Monte Carlo Simulation

Capacitors	Normal	Mismatch1	Mismatch2	Mismatch3	Mismatch4
C1	5.00541 pF	4.75514 pF	5.25568 pF	4.75514 pF	5.25568 pF
C2	5.00541 pF	4.75514 pF	5.25568 pF	5.25568 pF	4.75514 pF
C3	50.054 fF	52.5567 fF	47.5513 fF	52.5567 fF	47.5513 fF
C4	50.054 fF	52.5567 fF	47.5513 fF	47.5513 fF	52.5567 fF

Table 4.5: Magnitude and Bandwidth Responses for Monte Carlo Simulation

Mismatches	Max. variation	Min. variation
Normal	$39.7 dB @0.792 Hz \sim 6.904 KHz$	$38.57 dB @0.497 Hz \sim 8.038 KHz$
Mismatch1	$38.86 dB @0.758 Hz \sim 7.384 KHz$	$37.82 dB @0.485 Hz \sim 8.679 KHz$
Mismatch2	40.55 dB @ $0.831Hz \sim 6.396KHz$	$39.32 dB @0.515 Hz \sim 7.499 KHz$
Mismatch3	$39.66 dB @0.789 Hz \sim 6.881 KHz$	$38.54 dB @0.5Hz \sim 8.03 KHz$
Mismatch4	$39.66 dB @0.789 Hz \sim 6.881 KHz$	$38.54 dB @0.5Hz \sim 8.03 KHz$



Figure 4.12: A FFT response for the captured transient response in the Figure 4.11.

4.6 Conclusion

Modern implantable neural recording systems should accommodate thousands of recording channels to be able to record signals from large populations of neurons. The neural amplifier, most critical components in the design, should consume less power and area, and also have high noise immunity to digital switching in subsequent analog to digital converter, implemented on the same substrate. FD-SOI technology enables design of neural amplifier with better power and noise performance than in bulk technologies. This was demonstrated through design and simulation of a neural amplifier using symmetrical pseudo resistors in MITLL 0.18μ m FD-SOI process.

The designed neural amplifier was fabricated and tested on the custom designed test station. Through Monte Carlo simulation, the effect for the variations of



Figure 4.13: Amplifier structure and the capacitor names for the Monte Carlo simulation.

parameters and capacitors were summarized. Acceptable level of magnitude, phase, and bandwidth variations were shown in the Monte Carlo simulations. The test board noise as well as transistors working on the edge of saturation region might have affected to the performance of fabricated amplifier.



Figure 4.14: Applied parameter variations in 100 times Monte Carlo Simulations at room temperature. No capacitor mismatches applied.



Figure 4.15: Phase margins and magnitude responses for 100 times Monte Carlo simulation. No capacitor mismatches applied.



Figure 4.16: Applied parameter variations in 100 times Monte Carlo Simulations at room temperature. Capacitor values for mismatch1 in Table 4.4 were applied.



Figure 4.17: Phase margins and magnitude responses for 100 times Monte Carlo simulation. Capacitor values for mismatch1 in Table 4.4 were applied.



Figure 4.18: Applied parameter variations in 100 times Monte Carlo Simulations at room temperature. Capacitor values for mismatch2 in Table 4.4 were applied.



Figure 4.19: Phase margins and magnitude responses for 100 times Monte Carlo simulation. Capacitor values for mismatch2 in Table 4.4 were applied.



Figure 4.20: Applied parameter variations in 100 times Monte Carlo Simulations at room temperature. Capacitor values for mismatch3 in Table 4.4 were applied.



Figure 4.21: Phase margins and magnitude responses for 100 times Monte Carlo simulation. Capacitor values for mismatch3 in Table 4.4 were applied.



Figure 4.22: Applied parameter variations in 100 times Monte Carlo Simulations at room temperature. Capacitor values for mismatch4 in Table 4.4 were applied.



Figure 4.23: Phase margins and magnitude responses for 100 times Monte Carlo simulation. Capacitor values for mismatch4 in Table 4.4 were applied.

Chapter 5

An Efficient Power Harvesting System

5.1 Summary

Power transfer through inductive coupling highly relies on the coupling factor and ultimately on distance between coils. A design of low-power, high-efficient CMOS implantable power harvesting system for low coupling factor is presented in TSMC 0.18μ m technology. A clamping charge pump and LDO (Low-Drop-Out) regulator together make the system highly-efficient at 5mA load. A low-power high-PSRR CMOS voltage reference provides a temperature-insensitive reference ranging between 0°C and 80°C to the designed 3.3V LDO.

5.2 Introduction

An implantable neural recording system is becoming one of most important components in the field from a neuro-science research to an implementation of humanmachine interfaces. The capability of transferring large population of neural signals through inductive coupling is a critical bridge to capture and monitor brain/peripheral electrical activities and give freedom of locomotion. Bio-implabtable system such as multi-channel stimulators, neural amplifiers, and their supporting mixed signal circuitry etc. need stable and strong-enough electrical power to gather and process the neuronal information. Previous energy harvesting system [123] was successfully designed and implemented with high inductive coupling factor k. A simplified model of the inductively coupled system was proposed [123] and re-presented in figure 5.1. A recovered power u_2 relies on many parameters according to equation (5.1) and is proportional to its coupling factor k between two coils. It is determined for the air coupling case empirically [123] as in equation (5.2).

$$u_2 = \frac{\omega k \sqrt{L_1 L_2} i_1}{\sqrt{\left(\frac{\omega L_2}{R_L} + \omega R_1 C_1\right)^2 + \left(1 - \omega^2 L_2 C_1 + \frac{R_1}{R_L}\right)^2}}$$
(5.1)

$$k = \frac{r_{transponder}^2 r_{reader}^2}{\sqrt{r_{transponder} r_{reader}} (\sqrt{x^2 + r_{reader}^2})^3}$$
(5.2)

where $r_{transponder}$, r_{reader} are coil radii for transponder and reader, respectively and x is the distance between them. As a distance is getting longer the factor k is smaller to the third power and the received power at the transponder can be low as not to recover the required power and data. Therefore, a charge pump or DC-DC converter must be considered to boost input power voltage, which should be used in



Figure 5.1: Simplified model of a inductively coupled system.



Figure 5.2: Block diagram of power harvesting system.

case low coupling factor k.

In this chapter, we present a low-power power harvesting system including a reliable charge pump (DC-DC converter), a temperature-insensitive voltage reference, and an efficient 3.3V LDO regulator in TSMC 0.18μ m technology.

Figure 5.2 presents the proposed system block diagram. It consists of several sub-systems: Clock Generation, Full-wave Rectifier, Decision block, Charge Pump, Voltage Reference with Start-Up, 1.8V and 3.3V LDO Regulators, and Modulation and Data Processing Circuits. Through the inductive coupling, the input rectified voltage can be varied with certain voltage amplitude. In case enough power to the transponder it doesn't need to be processed by charge pump and directly goes to

LDO input, however it needs to be boosted in case of low coupling factor. A zener clamping circuit with a decision block can be utilized to detect lower coupling factor as well as protect following circuits. If the voltage from rectifier is not as much as an input of 3.3V LDO that makes stable output of 3.3V, the output of decision is connected to charge pump (V_{rec1} is activated and V_{rec2} is deactivated). If it is high enough to regulate the output of 3.3V LDO, the output of decision is shorted to input of 3.3V LDO regulator (V_{rec2} is activated and V_{rec1} is deactivated). The input of Start-Up and Voltage Reference could take any voltage level (V_{rec3}) between them. The utilized clock for the charge pump is 200kHz and it can be generated by Clock Generation from the initially recovered 4MHz clock. The Start-Up and Voltage Reference provides stable and ideally temperature-independent reference as well as biasing current to LDO regulaotrs. The LDO regulators can provide dual voltage power 3.3V and 1.8V to maximize the system power efficiency.

5.3 Design of Charge Pump

Charge pump (or DC-DC up converter) is used for generating higher voltages than regular power supply voltage. It has been typically utilized to produce high voltage for programming of nonvolatile memories, such as EEPROM, Flash memories [111], and driving analog switches in switched capacitor circuits [112]. A designed charge pump is dedicated to boost weakly rectified voltages and supply power for a 3.3V LDO regulator.

5.3.1 Charge Pump Selection

Most widely used charge pumps are originally based on Dickson charge pump [113] and clock booster (also called voltage doubler) [114]. Both structures of charge pump offer a capability of N-stage series connection, which ideally gives an output voltage equal to $(N + 1)V_{DD}$. The efficiency and reliability must be taken into account to choose a structure in not only charge pump itself but whole system including LDOs. Considering 1.8V input rectified voltage, since the target LDO output is 3.3V the required charge pump output must be at least a voltage allowing a pass-transistor in LDO operated in saturation region but also it should not be too hgih to deteriorate LDO efficiency and power dissipation, which is directly determined by LDO input or charge pump output voltage. A single-stage charge pump might be the best choice if it is charaterized with small-loss and less-parasitic effects.

If all parasitic capacitances, clock frequency, and pumping capacitor size are neglected for a first order analysis, output voltage for Dickson structure is $2V_{DD}-V_{th}$ while voltage doubler has a $2V_{DD}$. It has been proposed [112] to get rid of diode threshold voltage in Dickson structure, however added circuit techniques called CTS (Charge Transfer Switches) give another parasitic capacitance resulting in charge loss. Additionaly, V_{gs} for added switches and diode-connected transistors sufferred from gate-voltage stress of $2V_{DD}$ periodically which may give reliability issues in standard CMOS low-voltage devices.

5.3.2 Voltage Doubler Design and Operation

Figure 5.3 and 5.4 present the designed charge pump or voltage doubler. A core voltage doubler consists of two capacitors C_1 , C_2 , two cross coupled NMOS
transistors M_1 , M_2 , and two PMOS pass devices M_3 , M_4 . A source node of M_1 and M_2 has $2V_{DD}$ (assuming driving clock of capacitors uses the same V_{DD}) every clock cycle alternately and transfer higher voltage charge to output V_{CP} through transistors M_3 and M_4 . The back gates of M_3 and M_4 are always connected to highest voltage or output ensuring no body effect. On the output side, two off-chip zener diodes, Analog Clamping, and Clock Modulator are used to ultimately control clock signals to be low ripple outputs as well as clamp unnecessarily-high voltages. It is good to remind that an unnecessarily boosted output makes LDO efficiency low. Whenever charge pump output is over the target ouput voltage which is programmed by zener diodes and Analog clamping, the following clock stops working, or if the charge is kept pumping but it needs to minimize the output ripple and maintain output level, Clock Modulator modulates pulses to make it smooth. When the charge pump output is over 3.6V the clamping zener diodes conduct and give the current to Analog Clamping. This current is mirrored by M_8 and make the clpEN node pull down. cpEN signal is finally transferred to clrz node of D-FlipFlop (DFF) in Clock Modulator. It is pointed out that D node is always connected to V_{DD} and DFF is cleared upon clpEN.

Figure 5.5 shows charge pump output voltage Vcp and the modulated clock clkCP in Clock Modulator. When Vcp is over the 3.6V an Analog Clamping pulls down and clear the DFF. It makes Vcp discharged until pull clpEN up and clock start pumping again. Modulated clock keep the Vcp ripple voltage small and simulated ripple voltage is measured as less than 15mV.

To increase driving capability, two 0.33μ F off-chip capacitors (C_1, C_2) and 200KHz clock are utilized to achieve 5mA loading capability. One 200nF off-chip smoothing capacitor (C_{OUT}) , two 3.3V zener diodes are also used in this design.



Figure 5.3: Schematic of charge pump using analog clamping and clock modulator.

5.4 A CMOS Voltage Reference Design for Implantable Devices

Voltage reference is an essential functioning block and widely used in industrial applications, home appliances, computers, sensor nodes, and implantable medical devices.

Its temperature requirement is to maintain a constant voltage in a range between -45C and 155C in industry applications, while implantable medical devices have relatively less-stringent temperature requirements. It needs a temperature range such that a life organ can maintain the life.

The previously designed voltage references [115, 116, 118] use several P-type parasitic bipolar transistors in CMOS to implement Bandgap reference voltage,



Figure 5.4: Circuit diagram of analog clamping and clock modulator.

although they are leaky devices due to their low beta. The leakage current is inevitable by the relation of $I_b = I_c/\beta$.

A voltage reference making use of weak inversion region of standard CMOS devices is presented in figure 5.6. It consists of three parts: Startup $(M_{18}, M_{19}, C_1, C_2)$, cascode biasing loop generating PTAT $(M_1 \sim M_{14}$ and $M_{15}, M_{16}, R_2)$, and diode-connected NMOS (M_{17}) .

Conventional start-up itself always consumes current even after it takes away from zero biasing state. The start-up used in this design works only if it is in zerostate, and consumes no more current after on. The initial use of this start-up was introduced in [119].

The presented biasing loop is a popular structure introduced in textbooks [120, 121] and references [122, 119, 123] but wide-swing current mirrors are employed to improve Power Supply Rejection Ratio (PSRR) because power rail fluctuation noise coming from full-wave rectifier may affect its performance. Transistors M_9 to M_{14}



Figure 5.5: A capture of output and modulated clock signal for the charge pump.

give biases to cascode devices. Transistor M_7 is N-times bigger than M_8 and both transistors are operated in subthreshold region.

The current I_1 and I_2 are set equally by transistors M_1 to M_8 , and it ends up with $V_{gs7} + V_{R1} = V_{gs8}$, where V_{R1} is the voltage across R_1 . By subthreshold current equation (5.3), we can get a PTAT (proportional to absolute temperature) voltage as equation(5.4).

$$I_1, I_2 = N \times I_\phi \times \exp^{\frac{\kappa V_{g7} - I_1 R_1}{V_T}} = I_\phi \times \exp^{\frac{\kappa V_{g8}}{V_T}}$$
(5.3)

$$I_1, I_2 = \log(N) \frac{V_T}{R_1}$$
(5.4)

where I_{ϕ} , κ are characteristic current, body-effect coefficient, repectively and $V_T = kT/q$.

The same amount of the current I_1, I_2 is copied to I_5 . There is a diode-

connected NMOS transistor biased in weak inversion region and it has an interesting voltage-temperature characteristic: The gate-source or drain-source voltage is almost linearly decreased (there is a small distortion due to logarithmic terms) as increasing temperature [117, 124]. By combining this characteristic with PTAT in equation (5.4), temperature-compensated voltage reference can be achieved as equation (5.5).

$$V_{ref} = \log(N) \frac{V_T}{R_1} R_2 + V_{gs17}(T)$$
(5.5)

Figure 5.7 shows the simulation plot in Cadence for reference voltage (V_{ref}) to temperature (C). Voltage variation over the range between $-45^{\circ}C$ and $135^{\circ}C$ is 5.8mV but the range from $0^{\circ}C$ to $80^{\circ}C$, which we are mostly interested in the implanted applications, is only 2.2mV. The reference voltages at $0^{\circ}C$, $27^{\circ}C$, $38^{\circ}C$, and $80^{\circ}C$ are 454.6mV, 453.6mV, 452.4mV, and 454mV, respectively.

Figure 5.8 presents power supply rejection ratio. It performs less than -47dB up to 10kHz and -36dB up to 100kHz. The total power consumption including all three parts in 1.8V power is only 11.3uW.

5.5 An Efficient LDO regulator

A highly-efficient LDO regulator is acheived by the optimized charge pump and low-dropout voltage of LDO, which has maximum efficiency of 94.38 percent at 5mAload. The LDO efficiency is defined as equation (5.6) and it can be maximally achieved by minimum difference of input-output voltage (dropout voltage) while LDO keeps output regulation.



Figure 5.6: Schematic diagram of the designed CMOS voltage reference.

$$Efficiency = \frac{I_o V_o}{(I_o + I_Q)V_i}$$
(5.6)

where quiescent current $I_Q = I_i - I_o$.

In order to get higher efficiency and lower power dissipation, the designed LDO uses PMOS pass-transistor (by using NMOS pass transistor, V_{DD} inherently should be at least more than threshold voltage higher than output of LDO. Because of this, charge pump might need another stage to be a tripler). The two-stage amplifier with one zero compensation is used in LDO amplifier and ensures its stability. Figure 5.9 shows a 3.3V LDO having PMOS pass-transistor. The input of LDO uses boosted output voltage from charge pump. From charge pump design, it normally has 3.45V produced by 1.8V rectified voltage and 5mV ripple voltage by 200kHz clock. Table 5.1 summarizes simulated LDO performance for 1 μ A and 5mA loading. It is



Figure 5.7: Simulated plot of reference voltage Vs. temperature.

simulated with 453.6mV voltage reference, 3.45V Vcp, $42k\Omega$ of R_1 , $10k\Omega$ of R_2 , and a 5pF load capacitor. Efficiency is maximized as output loading goes up to 5mA.

5.6 Conclusions

This section presents a design of CMOS implantable power harvesting system in TSMC 0.18μ m technology for low-coupling factor. High-efficient harvesting system

Loading	$1\mu \dot{A}$	5mA
Phase margin	44.87°	78.7°
Output	3.293V	3.292V
PSRR	-57.74 dB@1 kHz	-57.09 dB@1 kHz
	-23.07 dB @200 kHz	-20dB@200kHz
Quiescent current	$52.78\mu A$	$54.95\mu A$
Efficiency	1.77 percent	94.38 percent
Power dissipation	$0.158 \mu W$	0.78mW

Table 5.1: Summary of Simulated LDO Regulator.



Figure 5.8: Power Supply Rejection Ratio (PSRR) for the designed voltage reference.

can be achieved by the proposed voltage doubler offering low-drop-out voltage for LDO. Analog Clamping and Clock Modulator technique in the charge pump can be utilized to other power recovery modules to implement a high-efficient system. A low temperature-dependent voltage reference using weak-inversion region can be successively applied to a bio-medical devices.



Figure 5.9: Schematic diagram of 3.3V LDO.

Chapter 6

Low-Power High-Resolution 32-channel Neural Recording System

6.1 Summary

A design of low-power 32-channel neural recording system working with onchip high-resolution A/D converters is presented. A neural front-end including lownoise fully differential pre-amplifier, gain stage, and buffer consumes only 56μ W. Two 13-bits extended counting A/D converters running at 512KHz sampling rate are integrated with 32 neural front-ends on a chip. The experimental prototype was designed in 0.6 μ m CMOS process. With a 3.3V power supply, total power consumption of the chip is 22mW and the whole system occupies an area of $3mm \times 3mm$.

6.2 Introduction

Recording from large population of neurons using multi-electrodes is indeed becoming a necessary procedure not only to research neuronal activities in central/peripheral nervous system but also to develop neural prosthesis. To better understand how the nervous system functions, we must be able to simultaneously monitor the responses of many neurons in small animals. To utilize advances in fabrication of MEMS structures that enable microelectrode arrays, there is need for recording systems able to record data and communicate gathered information to recording station in such a way that animal movement is restricted in minimal way. VLSI solutions offer low noise, small feature size and modularity. We are investigating design of VLSI microsystem for recording of neural signals from array of microeletrodes mounted on a head of a small animal. The headstage would have data link and would receive power through USB2 cable connection. The chip-onboard technology would be used for volume reduction and would enable interface to different sensor arrays.

Integrated circuits for neural recording have been designed for the past few decades [3, 91]. There are several design challenges in terms of noise, power, size, and resolution of analog-to-digital converter (ADC) due to the limited design resources. It should accommodate as many processing channels as possible while having properties of low power and low noise. Size and weight were the major constraints in our design. We have designed 32-channel analog neural recording system integrated together with 13-bit extended counting ADC in $3mm \times 3mm$ using 0.6μ m CMOS technology.

6.3 Analog System Design for Neural Signal Acquisition

Figure 6.1 represents the schematic diagram of designed 32-channels neuronal recording system. 16 neural front-ends are multiplexed with one ADC, and the exactly same front-ends and an ADC are duplicated for another 16-channels processing so that total of 32 neural front-ends and two ADCs are integrated on a chip. To communicate digitized neural signals from ADCs, there would be FPGA board interface as well as USB 2.0 connector outside the chip.



Figure 6.1: Schematic diagram of designed 32 channel neural recording system.

Figure 6.2 shows the schematic diagram for one channel of designed neural frontend. Since the circuit simultaneously processes neural signals from 32-electrodes, each channel of neural front-end should consume low power, occupy small area, and also have high noise immunity to digital switching in subsequent analog to digital converter on the same substrate. It consists of three parts: (A) pre-amplifier, (B) gain stage and (C) buffer. All three parts use fully differential structures in order to achieve high common mode noise rejection and high noise immunity to digital switching. In the very first stage of the system, pre-amplifier amplifies micro-range (at most 1mV [103], typically 100μ V [93]) neural signal from electrode one hundred times and only in the range from 100Hz to 7kHz. This is because extracellular neural action potentials, which we want to record, have frequency components in the range of 100Hz - 7kHz [93, 94]. The gain of this stage is limited by the linearity of pseudoresistors. Another stage with the gain of 5 is added to maximize the dynamic range before analog-to-digital conversion. The second gain stage also has low-pass frequency characteristic, providing sharper roll-off at cut-off frequency of 7kHz in pre-amplifier. The third part, buffer, is necessary as input stage for ADC.

Figure 6.4 represents the simulated frequency response for each neuronal recording front-end. It amplifies the neural signal up to almost 54 dB (500 V/V) in the range between 100 Hz and 7 kHz. The second order pole is located around 7 kHz so that it rolls off at 40dB/dec.

6.3.1 Pre-amplifier Design

Figure 6.2(A) shows the structure of designed pre-amplifier. It is similar to previous design [100] so that the midband gain A_M is set by C_1/C_2 , and the bandwidth by g_m/A_MC_L , where g_m is the transconductance of the operational transconductance amplifier (OTA). To implement very low cut-off frequency high resistive MOS elements (M_P are used. The resistance of PMOS element is up to the order of $10^{13}\Omega$ depending on a biasing voltage (V_{REG}) . The total time constant is set to $2R_PC_2$, where R_P refers to resistance of MOS element. Therefore, the low cut-off frequency of neural amplifier is determined by $1/(2\pi 2R_PC_2)$.

For the design of OTA in pre-amplifier, fully-differential telescopic operational amplifier, shown in Figure 6.3, is chosen with consideration of high gain, stability, and low-noise properties. By maximizing the gain of OTA, the effect of parasitic capacitances at the input of OTA could be reduced. It also makes it possible to use smaller C1 and C2 capacitors to set the gain. Cascode transistors increase OTA gain without degrading the noise performance. The smaller output voltage swing of the telescopic structure is not critical, since the output voltage swing is limited by the linear range of the high-resistive element (M_P) , and not by the telescopic structure. The main trade-offs in this OTA design are between noise, power, and size. If we only consider the power consumption, the maximum performance may be obtained when the value of the transconductance/drain current ratio (g_m/I_d) is the largest. However, the input referred thermal noise of OTA is given as

$$\overline{v_{in,thermal}^2} = \frac{16kT}{3g_{m1}} [1 + \frac{g_{m7}}{g_{m1}}] \Delta f$$
(6.1)

 g_m/I_d ratio and size of transistors should be considered to minimize input referred thermal noise. As total power consumption is determined by biasing current, we have chosen a lower biasing current. From the noise analysis, input transistors M_1 and M_2 should be sized with as large W/L ratio as possible so that a maximum g_m/I_d ratio is obtained. In the same manner, the noise contribution of transistors M_7 and M_8 can be minimized by choosing small W/L ratio or minimizing g_m/I_d ratio. Increasing the length of these M_7 and M_8 transistors is limited by available space. Effect of flicker or 1/f noise is minimized by choosing PMOS transistor for inputs and by increasing gate area of the transistors in design.



Figure 6.2: Schematic diagram for a channel of neuro front-end including (A)preamplifier, (B)gain stage, and (C)buffer.

For the implementation of common-mode feedback circuit, we have chosen continuous-time circuit shown in Figure 6.3. The common-mode output voltage is set to $V_{DD}/2$ or 1.65V. If the output common-mode level increases, current of M_{15} and M_{18} will increase and the current of $M_{16,17}$ will decrease. This causes increment in V_{CMFB} and makes the V_{SG} of M_{11} decrease, followed by decrease in common-mode output voltage.



Figure 6.3: Schematic diagram of pre-amplifier with a continuous-time common mode feedback circuit.

6.3.2 Gain stage and buffer design

Figure 6.2 also shows the gain stage and buffer. The structure of gain stage is basically non-inverting opamp. It has two resistors (R1 and R2) that create gain of 1+(R2/R1). The gain stage also provides additional low-pass filter with cut-off frequency of 7 kHz. There are two stages inside this gain stage: OTA and output pmos source follower to drive resistive loads. The low-pass cut-off frequency is set by both transconductance of the OTA and input capacitance of the source follower.

The gain stage is followed by a buffer which will drive subsequent multiplexer. The gain and phase margin should be considered in this buffer design because the amplified signal should settle down before following ADC starts the data conversion. The folded cascode op-amp is used in this buffer design and it has gain of around 1200 and over 80 degrees of phase margin.



Figure 6.4: Frequency response of a neuro front-end.

6.4 Design of Low-Power High-Resolution ADC

To reduce the noise introduced in communication, on-chip A/D conversion is required. The neural recording system in this prototype requires a resolution of 13bit and a bandwidth of up to 1MHz. Area and power are two major constraints in designing the ADC.

Under the specifications stated above, an extended counting is chosen as the architecture of our ADC, where a compromise of resolution and speed is achieved [96]. The converter passes through two stages. In the first stage, the converter acts as a first-order incremental converter to convert the most significant bits. Then in the second stage, the same hardware is used to convert the least significant bits by an algorithmic A/D conversion technique. The total conversion cycles of one sample is 16.5 clocks for 13-bit resolution. The designed ADC were published and the details

Parameter	Perfomance
Gain	39.5dB
Gain bandwidth	100Hz to $7kHz$
Input noise	$3.35\mu V_{rms}$
Power consumption	$13.68 \mu W$
Noise efficiency factor	3.18
Phase margin	105 degree
Area	$0.0482mm^2$

Table 6.1: Parameters for simulated preamplifier.

were presented in [129, 130].

6.5 Simulation Results and Layout

The circuit was simulated using Cadence SpectreS simulator and BSIM3 version 3.1 transistor models were used with 1/f noise parameter of KF = 6×10^{-27} (PMOS), KF = 3×10^{-25} (NMOS), and AF = 1 (PMOS and NMOS). Table6.1 summaries the performance of simulated pre-amplifier. Both gain stage and buffer in one channel of neuro front-end occupie only $0.0172mm^2$ and consume 42.34μ W. Total power consumption for single channel of neuro front-end is about 56μ W.

6.6 Measurements

The designed 32-channel analog front-end for neural recording system was fabricated together with two extended counting ADCs on a area of $3mm \times 3mm$ through MOSIS AMI 0.5 μ m 2 poly 3 metal layer CMOS technology. Figure 6.5 shows a microscope image for the fabricated chip.

The chip is tested with a custom designed general purpose mixed signal test



Figure 6.5: Microscope image of the fabricated 32-channel neural recording system.

station equipped with PC interface. The test station is interfaced to PC through data acquisition card NI-6259 (National Instruments) for characterization and real time measurement. Test station is comprised of a motherboard and a daughter board. A motherboard consists of interface circuitry to PC and FPGA, digital-toanalog converters for providing biasing voltages, 3.3V power regulators. A daughter board contains the designed ASIC with a socket and interface connectors providing a connection flexibility to motherboard through wire-up. Figure 6.6 and 6.7 show a picture of the motherboard and the daughter board equipped on a motherboard, respectively.

The chip is supplied by a 3.3V regulator which is powered by 5V analog output

from NI-6259. Among 32 channels of front-ends, due to limited number of I/O port, only 32nd design among the channels was left for testing purpose and has total 18 pin interfaces: 2 signal inputs, 12 voltage biasing, 2 signal outputs, one Vdda, and a ground.



Figure 6.6: A custom designed motherboard.

Figure 6.8 presents a capture of measured transient response for the designed 32nd channel. It characterizes a gain of 150 with a signal distortion at $1KHz \ 3mV$ input sinusoid wave. From additional testing, there is unacceptable distortion for other frequency ranges and various inputs. Figure 6.9 shows a plot for FFT response of the captured transient response. We can find unwanted high-frequency components, and it represents a large deviation from the simulation results, which is gain of 54dB or 500V/V in the range from 0.5Hz to 7KHz.

From the review of schematics and diagnostics in testing, the major problem arises from a common-mode feedback circuit in the preamplifier. The common-mode voltage is supposed to be a half of Vdd which is 1.65V/V but it has been under



Figure 6.7: A picture of daughterboard-mounted test station.

Table 6.2: Magnitude Response for Preamplifier Corner Simulation where $V_{reg}=0.514$ V

Corners	Bandwidth (Hz)	Maximum (dB)
TT	283.3~8.052K	39.91 @1.5KHz
SS	$209.4 \sim 7.827 \mathrm{K}$	39.92 @1.266 KHz
FF	$1.945 K \sim 10.24 K$	39.77 @5.241 KHz
SF	$2.86 \text{K} \sim 10.56 \text{K}$	39.79 @5.24 KHz
FS	$1.95 \sim 7.941 \mathrm{K}$	39.95 @102.3Hz

control. Two NMOS load transistors M7, M8 and two current sources M20 and M21 in Figure 6.3 are working under out of saturation. Transistor M7, M8, M20, and M21 were sized with very small W/L ratio to minimize input-referred noise even with a small bias current. Due to the very long transistor aspect, the transistors were biased on the edge of saturation region.

Transistor mismatches and their variation in a process might also contribute to the deviation in the testing results. It can be simulated by corner simulation. Figure 6.10 and 6.11 show the corner simulation results for the preamp and whole



Figure 6.8: A transient response for the designed analog frontend.

32nd analog processing channel, respectively, and Table 6.2 and 6.3 summarize their characteristics. Five MOSFET corner models in AMI 0.6μ m technology are acquired from a MOSIS service and used in the corner simulation. The corner model is named with a combination of NMOS and PMOS process: TT (Typical NMOS - Typical PMOS), SS (Slow NMOS - Slow PMOS), FF (Fast NMOS - Fast PMOS), SF (Slow NMOS - Fast PMOS), and FS (Fast NMOS and Slow PMOS). Almost all parameters are different among models but the major difference between corners is a threshold voltage. Since a current consumption and transistor speed is mainly determined by threshold voltage they are named by Fast or Slow.

In the corner simulations, the gate biasing voltage Vreg for the preamplifier in the Figure 6.2 was set to have the frequency range from 300Hz to 7KHz at TT



Figure 6.9: A FFT response for the captured transient response in Figure 6.8.

corner. For the lower cut-off frequency of 300Hz, a 0.514V of Vreg was biased in the circuit. However, the applied biasing Vreg voltage was not changed when each corner simulation ran. By the comparing figure 6.11 and 6.10, the shape of magnitude response for the whole frontend corner is similar to the preamplifier except gain. Large cut-off frequency variations are observed for the lower cut-off frequency because of the threshold voltage variation among corner models. Also, large gain and bandwidth distortion are occurred in the preamplifier as of showing a sharp drop of magnitude in especially SF corner. It affects to the whole frontend system, and the abrupt change of magnitude happens when the transistors in amplifier go out of saturation.



Figure 6.10: Five corner simulation results for the designed preamplifer.

6.7 Improvements

The previously designed analog acquisition system including a preamplifier and a gain-LPF stage has a deviated magnitude response from what we have simulated. Some of transistors, mainly in preamplifier, are working in the linear region rather than saturation region at corner simulations. A new design of a preamplifier and a gain-LPF stage with output buffer were simulated in both time and frequency domain using acquired in-vivo cerebral neural data from a rat in the Cold Spring Harbor Lab., New York.

The improved system has the same structure as in Figure 6.2. For the preamplifier, the transistor sizes and biasing current have been designed differently from previous one. It has been ensured that all transistors work in saturation region



Figure 6.11: Fiver corner simulation results for the designed frontend.

for all corners. Instead, the biasing current of the preamplifier was increased to minimize input-referred noise and transistors were sized properly not to be very long.

Table 6.4 summarizes performances for the improved fully-differential preamplifier. It has a bandwidth from 321Hz to 9.27kHz but input noise was integrated only up to 8.2kHz which is the channel bandwidth.

For the gain-stage, the same resistive feedback structure as in the gain stage of

Corners	Bandwidth (Hz)	Maximum (dB)
TT	$298.4 \sim 7.921 \mathrm{K}$	53.92 @1.5 KHz
SS	$550.9 \sim 7.978 \mathrm{K}$	53.9 @1.961 KHz
FF	$1.922 K \sim 10.59 K$	53.4 @4.462 KHz
SF	$30.05 \text{K} \sim 53.58 \text{K}$	38 @37.93 KHz
FS	$2.05 \sim 7.721 \mathrm{K}$	53.95 @82.4Hz

Table 6.3: Magnitude Response for Whole Frontend Corner Simulation where $V_{reg}=0.514V$

Parameters	Perfomances
Gain	39.84dB
Gain bandwidth	321Hz to $9.27kHz$
Input noise up to $8.2kHz$	$2.8\mu V_{rms}$
Power consumption	$52.56\mu W$
Supply voltage	3.3V
Noise efficiency factor	4.86
Phase margin	78.3 degree

Table 6.4: Simulation results for improved fully-differential preamplifier.

Table 6.5: Simulation results for improved differential gain-LPF stage.

Parameters	Perfomances
Gain	20dB
Gain bandwidth	24.24kHz
Input noise	$16.51 \mu V_{rms}$
Current consumption including bias	$9.444 \mu A$
Power consumption	$31.165 \mu W$
Supply voltage	3.3V
Phase margin	78.6 degree

Figure 6.2 was used. However, the inner amplifier structure has been changed from a mirror opamp with class-A output stage to a cascode mirror opamp with class-AB output stage. Figure 6.12 shows the improved opamp with a class-AB output stage. The cascode transistors M9, M10, M11, and M12 were added from previous design to increase the gain, and class-AB output stage was used to increase efficiency, driving capability, and output swing range. The quiescent current through the last common-source transistors M21 and M22 is only 1.43uA but they can drive large capacitive load, for instance, analog-to-digital converter (ADC). A large swing output stage is preferable to the following stage which is input of ADC, since the bigger reference of ADC results in higher signal to noise ratio (SNR). Table 6.5 summarizes the performance of the designed gain-LPF stage.



Figure 6.12: A newly designed amplifier for gain-LPF stage. Wide swing class AB output stage is utilized.

Figure 6.13 shows the magnitude response for the improved channel design. The channel design has a gain of 60dB in the bandwidth between 321Hz to 8.2kHz.

The improved designs were simulated using in-vivo cerebral neural data as a schematic input. The raw data has been collected from a rat in the Cold Spring Harbor Lab., New York. The raw data and the simulation results in Cadence are plotted in the Figure 6.14. The input raw data is represented in the fifth row tabbed as Vp. It contains Local Field Potential (LFP) as well as neural spikes. Tabs named a and b are the preamplifier positive and negative output, respectively. Likewise, Voutm and Voutp are the negative and positive outputs of the gain-LPF stage, respectively. Figure 6.15 presents the differential plots from a and b as well as from Voutm and Voutp. The first row tabbed diffAB is the differential plot from preamplifier outputs a and b. Similarly, the second row tabbed diffVout is the gain-LPF differential outputs Voutp and Voutm. The output of gain-LPF stage is 10-times bigger than preamplifier



output. The low-frequency LFP was eliminated by bandpass characteristics.

Figure 6.13: Improved frontend magnitude response.

Figures 6.16, 6.17, 6.18 present the corner simulation plots for the improved preamplifier, gain-LPF stage, and the combined two stages, respectively. There are variations at the lower cut-off frequency since the lower cut-off frequency depends on the high-resistive pseudo transistors M_P and C_2 in Figure 6.2 (A). The biasing voltage for gate of M_P is always set to 560mV in these five corner simulations, and the 560mVis a biasing voltage only for the TT corner to have 321Hz lower cut-off frequency. Since each MOS corner model gives different threshold voltage the constant biasing voltage for high-resistive elements M_P cannot guarantee the 321Hz cut-off frequency for all corners. Except threshold voltage variation that is lower cut-off frequency variation, there is acceptable variation among corners and no sharp deviation of magnitude response. Table6.6 summarizes the magnitude corner responses for the

Corners	Bandwidth (Hz)	Maximum (dB)
TT	323~8.05K	59.82
SS	51.73~8.36K	59.86
\mathbf{FF}	$564 \sim 9.5 { m K}$	59.82
SF	884~9.67K	59.71
FS	$0.85 \sim 8.82 \mathrm{K}$	59.82

Table 6.6: Magnitude Response for Improved Channel Corner Simulation where $V_{reg}=0.560$ V

improved channel design.

6.8 Conclusions

This work presents a design of low-power neural recording system mounted as head-stage on small animal, with on-chip 13-bits extended counting A/D converters. All 32 channels of neuro front-ends and two 13-bit A/D converters are integrated into a 3mm by 3mm chip area in 0.6μ m CMOS process. Based on the analog frontend test, the major problems in the design were analyzed, and the improved design of frontend was proposed.



Figure 6.14: Improved frontend transient response.

Transient Response--Input and Outputs



Figure 6.15: Improved frontend differential response.



Figure 6.16: Improved preamp corner simulation.



Figure 6.17: Improved LPF-AMP corner simulation.



Figure 6.18: Improved channel corner simulation.

Chapter 7

Adaptive Spike Detection for Low-Power Low-Data-Rate Wireless Neural Recording System

7.1 Summary

A design of small, low-power, low-data rate, wireless 32-channel neural recording system for small animal head-stage is presented.

A neural pre-amplifier has low-input-referred-noise of $2.24\mu V_{rms}$ and consumes 57.82μ W. To enable digital telemetry with optimized bandwidth under size and power constraint for small-animal headstage, we propose to separately record spikes and local-field potentials. An adaptive spike detector using absolute value algorithm accompanied with 7th-order all-pass delay filter provides accurate on-chip acquisition of spike waveform in duration of 2ms. Additionally, an area-efficient adaptive spike

detection system without use of all-pass filter is presented. A low-power 10-bit and 5-bit resolution A/D converters running at 22Ksamples/s for active spikes and 200samples/s for local field potential, respectively, can be integrated with the proposed system. Using adaptive bandwidth control, we achieve reduction of datarate up to seven times which provides compatibility to 1Mbps Ultra Low Power Bluetooth technology. Total power consumption of single channel excluding ADCs is 108.92μ W in 3.3V power supply.

7.2 Introduction

Recording and collection of large population of neural signals in small animal is required to investigate bio-physiological activities in central and/or peripheral nervous system. There is a need for a system able to record all informative data and communicate the gathered data with a recording station in such a way that animal movement is restricted in minimal way.

Existing systems for multi-channel recording mainly use analog headstage requiring a number of wires equal to the number of channels, leading to restriction of movement and poor scalability. Most of these systems use pre-amplifier and frontend filtering to improve the signal-to-noise ratio before transmission to a remote data logger. Wireless transmitting devices might solve that problem, but current generations based on analog multiplexing also scale poorly and are susceptible to noise [125, 126]. The design of a headstage with on-chip analog-to-digital conversion would enable digital telemetry of neural signals in their entirety, however high-datarate in multi-channel implementation is concern and efficient control of bandwidth is necessary. To control the bandwidth and transmit all informative data, we need to transmit effective spike shapes accurately at higher sampling rate, enabling off-chip digital spike sorting, while local field potentials can be acquired at lower resolution and lower sampling rate.

We have investigating a design of wireless VLSI micro-system for recording of neural signals from array of micro-electrodes mounted on a head of a rat-like small animal. The head-stage would interface with an Ultra Low Power Bluetooth technology [127], previously called Wibree, which consumes only a fraction of the power of the classic Bluetooth, can be powered by a small and light button cell battery and supports data-rate of 1Mbps. A higher resolution ADC can be utilized whenever an active spike is detected, and a lower resolution ADC is adequate for recording of local field potential (LFP). The chip-on-board technology would be used for volume reduction and would enable interface to different sensor arrays.

We have considered 32-channel analog neural recording system integrated together with an adaptive spike detector using absolute value algorithm in 0.6μ m CMOS technology.

7.3 Low-Power Low-Data-Rate System Design

Figure 7.1 shows single channel of the system block diagram for the proposed low-power, low-data-rate neural recording system. It consists of a pre-amplifier, 7th order all-pass delay filter, an adaptive spike detector using absolute value algorithm, high-pass filter, low-pass amplifiers, 10-bit ADC and 5-bit ADC. In the pre-amplifier, since the peak-to-peak voltage of input spike train and LFP, in case of removal of
random DC offset, are micro-range (at most $2mV_{pp}$ for spikes, typically $200\mu V_{pp}$ and about $2mV_{pp}$ for LFP). Neural signals from a electrode are amplified fifty times only in the range from ideally less than 1Hz to 7kHz. This is because the linear range of the all-pass filter and the adaptive spike detector (ASD) in the figure is set to 200mV_{pp} . A high-pass filter (HPF) is used for selection of only spike bandwidth. ASD is to adaptively set a detection threshold by a multiplication factor which would be adjusted high or low by external digital signal. A linear phase all-pass delay filter allows the previously amplified spikes to preserve the shape of waveforms in band of interests with certain amount of delay. Two low-pass filter amplifiers (LPF-AMPs) before two ADCs are not only to enlarge input dynamic range of ADC but also work as anti-aliasing filters for the digitization (A 7kHz band-width LPF-AMP for active spikes, and 100Hz band-width LPF-AMP for LFP). For the 10-bit ADC, a low-power, small-size, ratio-independent algorithmic-type ADC [128] can be considered for this application. It will be activated by the one bit spike acknowledge signal from the ASD. Whenever an active spike signal is detected the ADC runs at 22K samples/s. For the 5-bit ADC, a successive approximation-type ADC running at 200 samples/scan be considered for recording of LFP. Since it is low resolution only few pico-farads capacitors will be utilized for a binary-weighted capacitor array. Digitized data will be processed in the off-chip and interfaced with Ultra Low Power Bluetooth chip for wireless transmission.

7.3.1 Pre-Amplifier Design

Figure 7.2 shows the structure of designed pre-amplifier which is based on our previous design [129]. Pre-amplifier is especially designed for taking action



Figure 7.1: A single-channel system diagram for the proposed adaptive neural recording system.

potential with local field potential (LFP) which have frequency components in the range of 0.538Hz - 9.58KHz. The bandwidth is set by g_m/A_MC_L , where g_m is the transconductance of the operational transconductance amplifier (OTA), A_M is midband gain set by C_1/C_2 , and C_L is load capacitance seen from output of the preamplifier. Low cut-off frequency is determined by $1/(2\pi 2R_PC_2)$ using resistance (R_P) of a pseudo PMOS element, up to the order of $10^{13}\Omega$ depending on a biasing voltage (V_{RES}) . For design of OTA in pre-amplifier, wide-swing current-mirror operational amplifier is utilized with consideration of high gain, stability, and low-noise properties. By maximizing the gain of OTA, the effect of parasitic capacitances at the input of OTA could be reduced. It also makes possible the use of smaller C1 and C2 capacitors to set a gain. Capacitors C_1 , C_2 are set to 7.5pF, 150fF respectively. The designed preamplifier has gain of 33.95dB and $2.24\mu V_{rms}$ input-referred noise in the band of interest.



Figure 7.2: Schematic diagram for a low-input-referred-noise pre-amplifier.

7.3.2 Design for Two LPF-AMPs and HPF

The preamplified neural signal has to be processed by high-pass filter (HPF) and low-pass-filter amplifiers (LPF-AMP1, LPF-AMP2). Figure 7.5 shows the schematic diagram of LPF-AMP (left figure) and HPF (right figure). In order to process the spike signal from the preamplifier to be band-limited and further amplified it needs to be 10 times more gain ideally in the range of 100Hz to 7KHz. A first-order gm-C high-pass filter is designed to have 103.7Hz cut-off frequency, and LPF-AMP1 which has gain of 10 has been designed. The inner-amplifier in the LPF-AMP1 is cascode mirror amplifier with class-AB output stage, as in the Figure 6.12 in the Chapter 6. Power consumption for the HPF and LPF-AMP1 is 0.439nW and 6.468μ W, respectively. For the process of local field potential, low cut-off frequency LPF-AMP2 is required. The same structure of LPF-AMP in Figure 7.5 is used, but



Figure 7.3: A block diagram of the adaptive spike detector using absolute value algorithm.

a mirror amplifier with class-AB stage is used for the inner amplifier. It has a gain of 10 and bandwidth of 153Hz. It consumes 8.849μ W.

7.3.3 Adaptive Spike Detector using Absolute Value Algorithm

Iyad and Patrick [131] have compared spike-detection algorithms for wireless brain-machine interfaces. They found that, in systems with limited computational resources, taking the absolute value of the neural signal before applying a threshold is just as effective for detecting spikes as applying more elaborate energy-based detectors using digital signal processing techniques. Based on their research, Figure 7.3 presents a proposed block diagram for an analog spike detector using an absolute value algorithm. It comprises four main building blocks: adaptive real-time threshold set block, absolute value block (ABS), Time delay block, and time window generator block. The adaptive real-time threshold set block was first introduced and validated by Harrison [132, 133]. It performs spike detection using a specified multiple (N in



Figure 7.4: Typical specifications for a cerebral spike from a rat. This in-vivo data was acquired by Cold Spring Harbor Lab., New York. The threshold value was set by the adaptive spike detection algorithm in MATLAB.

Figure 7.3, usually 2 to 7) of the background noise rms value. ABS block generates absolute value with respect to common mode reference for input neural signal. Time window generator block produces 1-bit digital enable signals for 2msec, that is required time period for successful recording of an active spike shape. Time delay block makes 0.3msec delay time without loss of any frequency component. It allows to record the entire waveform of detected spike. The delay is set based on observation that an active spike typically has 0.3msec time period before its waveform first reaches the estimated threshold value, and it would be already late to record a shape of neural spike even as soon as the adaptive detector recognizes it as a neural spike. Figure 7.4 shows the specifications for a detected neural spike.



Figure 7.5: Schematic diagram of LPF-AMP (left) and HPF (right) used in the adaptive neural recording system.

Figure 7.6 represents waveforms through the proposed adaptive spike detector without/with the ABS in Matlab simulation, and plots the generated time window signals. As in the first row of the figure, it is observed that some negative spikes might be created by a cell as well as positive spikes. It can be detected by ABS (in the second row of the figure) and creates a time window for 2msec after delay time of 0.3msec as in the third row of the figure. If a consecutive spike hits the threshold during generating of 2msec time window for the previous one time window generator will reset the timer and extend 2msec more from that instant.

Circuits for Adaptive Spike Detector

Figure 7.7 depicts the implemented adaptive spike detector with ABS. Adaptive threshold set block in right side of figure 7.7 follows the topology in [132, 133]. Comparator A is used in feedback loop and setting $V_{1\sigma}$ to the rms level of the input waveform. This voltage is amplified by a constant level (usually 2 to 7) by the ratio of R1 and R2. The voltage, $V_{threshold}$, results in adaptive threshold voltage. Absolute value (ABS) circuit consists of two identical operational transconductance amplifiers (OTA) and two identical PMOS cascode mirrors, rather than one OTA with one PMOS current source and one NMOS current sink introduced in [134], to reduce a current mismatch error between NMOS and PMOS. The designed ABS circuit was simulated in Cadence with an in-vivo cerebral signal collected from a rat. Figure ?? presents the transient response from the ABS circuit using input in-vivo neural signal. The first row in the figure is the simulated output from the ABS circuit, and their input signal is shown in the following row, amplified in-vivo spike signal from a rat. The absolute value of spike signal was referenced by 1.65V.

Figure 7.9 shows the schematic diagram of switched comparator. An inverter amplifier and a latch are utilized for the low power implementation, and they are running with two non-overlapping clocks.

For the time window generator, both analog and digital time window generators (TWG) can be considered to implement resetable time window function. While a digital TWG requires several-bits counter with decoding logics, an analog TWG needs a couple of capacitors and transistors. Analog TWG is preferable for low-power and small size implementation. To generate a resetable 2msec time window, an analog timer introduced in [90] was modified and simulated in Cadence. Figure 7.10 represents a schematic diagram of time window generator. It consists of three conceptual parts: (a) current reference (b) resettable timer (c) comparator. When a trigger is on the drain node of M_2 transistor is charged to V_{DD} . As soon as trigger is off it starts to discharge through M_2 transistor at the W/L ratio between transistors M_1 and M_2 . In the current reference in the part (a), the current through M_1 is set by the frequency of non-overlapping clocks clk1 and clk2, C_2 , and voltage difference between V_{DD} and equilibrium voltage on the top plate of three capacitors $C_2 C_3 C_4$

in clk2 phase. The stabilized current through M_1 transistor can be expressed as:

$$I_D(V_A) = f_{clk1,2}C_2(V_{DD} - V_A)$$
(7.1)

where $I_D(V_A)$ is the saturation current of M_1 transistor and $f_{clk1,2}$ is frequency of non-overlapping clocks clk1 and clk2. By a size ratio of transistors M_1 and M_2 , the size of C_1 , and the clock frequency, the discharge current through M_2 can be well controlled. The following comparator consisting of $M_3 \sim M_8$ compares between the discharging node (drain node of M_2) and equilibrium voltage (V_A) of top plate of three capacitors C_2 C_3 C_4 in clk2 phase. When the two node voltages are getting similar by the discharge, the comparator ouptut has to be decided but it may not decide correctly instantaneously due to switching noise. The comparator is followed by a latch operating on clk1 phase so that the glitch noise effect can be avoided. The generated time window is determined by:

$$T = \frac{C_1}{MC_2} T_{clk1,2} + \frac{1}{2} T_{clk1,2}$$
(7.2)

where $T_{clk1,2}=1/f_{clk1,2}$, $M=(W/L)_{M2}/(W/L)_{M1}$. Figure 7.11 shows the behavior of time window generator by two separate triggers when M=1/16, $f_{clk1,2}=22kHz$, $C_1=2.7pF$, and $C_2=C_3=C_4=1pF$. After a trigger is activated and switched-off (the first row in the figure), the discharge is started so that the voltage tabbed d (the second row in the figure) is decreasing at constant slope. The time window is generated as soon as the trigger is on, but it is reset if another trigger is activated within 2msec(the third row in the figure).

Whole adaptive spike detector in Figure 7.7 was simulated for 150msec in

Cadence design environment with in-vivo spike signals from a rat. Figure 7.12 shows the simulation results. The first row represents the input in-vivo cerebral signal ranges from 321Hz to 8KHz. The binary signals in second row are detected spike triggers, and finally, the 2*msec* time window signals are generated (the third row in the figure). The resistor ratio R2/R1 in the Figure 7.7 was set to 2 in this simulation. The magnified view of spike detection was captured in Figure 7.13: a magnified spike in the first row, adaptive threshold and absolute value of the spike in the second row, detected spike trigger in the third row, and time window signal in the last row.

All-pass Delay Filter Design

All-pass time delay filter is designed to make 0.3*msec* delay without loss of spike waveform. A 7th order filter is chosen to set 0.3*msec* delay and comprises one first-order and three second-order all-pass filters in a series starting with the first-order filter. A structure for discrete version of higher order all-pass filter and its coefficients was introduced in [135]. It was converted to its gm-C version for VLSI implementation. Figure 7.14 presents gm-C version of first-order and second-order all-pass filter structure. Their transfer functions are summarized in equation (1) and (2) respectively.

$$H_{1st}(s) = \frac{s - \frac{g_{m1}}{C}}{s + \frac{g_{m1}}{C}}$$
(7.3)

$$H_{2nd}(s) = \frac{s^2 - \frac{g_{m2}}{C_2}s + \frac{g_{m1}g_{m2}}{C_1C_2}}{s^2 + \frac{g_{m2}}{C_2}s + \frac{g_{m1}g_{m2}}{C_1C_2}}$$
(7.4)

The designed 7th order all-pass filter has 0.3msec delay up to 3dB bandwidth

Building Block	Power consumption	Bandwidth
Pre-amplifier	$57.82\mu W$	$0.538Hz \sim 9.58KHz$
Adaptive spike detector	$35.244 \mu W$	_
7th-order all-pass filter	$0.54 \mu W$	6.9KHz
LPF-AMPs for spike	$6.468 \mu W$	8.56 KHz
LPF-AMPs for LFP	$8.849\mu W$	153Hz
HPF	0.439nW	$103.7Hz \sim$
Total consumption	$108.92 \mu W$	—

Table 7.1: Summary of Simulated Power Consumption.

Table 7.2: Produced Data-Rate by Proposed System.

	Ch.	Occupation	Fs	Resolution.	Data-Rate
Spikes	32	0.14	22Ks/s	10bit	985600 bps
Others	32	1	200s/s	5bit	32000 bps

of 7kHz and it has almost linear phase up to the bandwidth. Figure 7.15 presents the simulated magnitude and phase response of all-pass filter in Cadence. All three second-order filters use 1 pF capacitors and the very first filter, first-order filter, uses 2 pF capacitor. All designed transconductors have 200mV linear range and their transconductance range from 2nA/V to 15nA/V.

7.4 Simulated Power Consumption and Data-Rate Improvement

The designed circuits were simulated in 3.3V power supply using Cadence SpectreS simulator. Table 7.1 summaries the power consumption of each simulated block. The total power consumption of single channel system excluding ADCs is 108.92μ W.

It is known that spike firing rate for small animals is distributed widely from

10 spikes/sec to 90 spikes/sec [136]. The spike firing rate from cerebral cortex of a rat is $50 \sim 60 spikes/sec$. Table 7.2 summarizes the tremendously reduced data-rate by the proposed adaptive spike detection system. Without adaptive system with the same specifications, the produced data-rate is 7040000 bps. The proposed system reduces the data-rate almost 7 times.

The occupation rate of spikes in one second in Table 7.2 was calculated by assuming that maximum firing rate is 70 spikes/sec. Since recording time for each spike is 2msec the percentage occupied by spikes in one second is 14%. The total produced data-rate is 1017600 bps (985600bps+32000bps in Table 7.2) which is less than 1Mbps (1048576bps). It allows us to transmit 32 channel neural data accurately using 1Mbps Ultra Low Power Bluetooth technology.

7.5 A Low-Data-Rate Adaptive Spike Detection without Analog All-Pass Filter

The designed 7th-order cascade all-pass filter consists of 7 capacitors and 14 transconductors which may occupy large area. Ideally, it has to be a constant delay time for all the frequency components in the band of interests but the designed cascade filter has nonlinear delay time from 5KHz. Recent investigations have demonstrated that leap-frog (LF) structure is advantageous over the cascade configuration [138, 139, 141]. Leap-frog multiple-loop feedback (LF MLF) OTA-C filters offer better passband magnitude sensitivity, maximum input voltage, and magnitude frequency response considering OTA nonideality effects over IFLF and cascade OTA-C filters [140, 141]. However, LF MLF OTA-C filters need to have

much more number of transconductors than cascade structure (Almost 2-times more transconductors are required).

Much more robust and less sensitive delay element implementation can be achieved by digital delay elements and the proposed adaptive spike detection can be implemented together with digital delay elements. Figure 7.16 shows an alternative adaptive spike detection for neural recording. Basically, the position of delay elements are switched with 10-bit ADC. The ADC converts amplified and filtered neural spikes to the digital domain first, and then the detected spike signal is enabled by spike enable signal which is time window signal from Adaptive Spike Detector. The digital delay elements should hold the digitized spikes during 0.3msec. The 0.3mSec delay can be implemented by 66 D-flipflops (assumed, sampling rate of 22KSamples/s for 10-bit ADC). This has the same functionality as the system in Figure 7.1 but without all-pass filter which may introduce a signal distortion, nonlinearity of delay, and large area consumption.

However, in the adaptive spike detection system using digital delay elements, the 10-bit ADC and 66 D-flipflops are continuously operating and may consume more power compared to the previous system in Figure 7.1 in which the ADC operates only when spikes are detected.

A fully differential structure can be adapted to minimize effects from digital switching noise. The structure of a preamplifier and a LPF-AMP can be taken from parts (a) and (b) in Figure 6.2 in Chapter 6, respectively, and the inner-amplifier for the LPF-AMP can be taken from Figure 6.12 in the same Chapter, improved amplifier with a class-AB output stage. The structure of BPF-AMP can be taken from singleended version of bandpass amplifier which has been introduced in Figure 7.2. Gain of preamplifier, BPF-AMPs, and LPF-AMP in Figure 7.16 have been set to be a reference voltage of 1V in two ADCs, since a linear range limitation of all-pass filter is not present.

7.6 Conclusions

This work presents a design of low-power, low-data-rate, wireless head-stage for small animals, 32-channel neural recording system. It is compatible with 1MbpsUltra Low Power Bluetooth technology using button cell battery. The proposed adaptive neural recording system with all-pass filter can be improved with digital delay elements. This low-data-rate adaptive neural recording might be implanted with communication achieved with inductive link.



Figure 7.6: Comparative views of adaptive spike detector without ABS (figure in the first row) and with ABS (figure in the second row). The detected spikes allow to produce time window signals (figure in the third row).



Figure 7.7: A schematic of the adaptive spike detector using absolute value. An absolute value circuit was adopted to implement absolute value algorithm and adaptive threshold set scheme was from Harrison's [132, 133].



Figure 7.8: Transient response of absolute value circuit.



Figure 7.9: Schematic diagram of switched comparator.



Figure 7.10: Schematic diagram of time window generator: (a)current reference (b)resettable timer (c)comparator.



Figure 7.11: Transient response of the designed time window generator. Simulated time window is holding high for 2.017mSec once a trigger is activated.



Figure 7.12: Transient simulation of adaptive spike detector for 150msec.



Figure 7.13: Magnified view of spikes and the detection.



Figure 7.14: A first-order (A) and second-order (B) all-pass delay filter circuit.



Figure 7.15: Magnitude and phase response of simulated 7th-order all-pass filter in Cadence.



Figure 7.16: Block diagram of adaptive spike detection without analog all-pass filter.

Chapter 8

Conclusion and Future Work

This work presents a low-power analog front-end suitable for wired/wireless, multi-channel neural recording system.

Since acceptable data rate is typically limited to few Mbps (2 to 3Mbps) in transcutaneous communication, when recording from a large number of multi-channel sensors in transcutaneous wireless systems, data-rate reduction is one of the critical issues in current wireless neural recording system. Using the adaptive spike detection techniques introduced in this work, we managed to reduce the data-rate almost 7 times while neural signals up to 7KHz bandwidth are recorded with high resolution.

An analog front-end for neural recording in CMOS and a preamplifier in FD-SOI were fabricated and tested. The discussion and improvements were considered at the end of each chapter. An adaptive spike detection scheme and associated circuits were introduced and simulated. The developed circuits and techniques can be applied to the implantable, wireless, low-power, and low-data-rate neural recording system. It includes a novel power harvesting system which supplies stable power to be able to process neural data and communicate with the external electronics.

The implementation and testing of the considered adaptive spike detection system remains as a future work. The digitized neural data in multi-channels should be transferred in a wireless scheme. Before the transmission, multiplexing from multichannels and compression of the large volume data can be researched as an issue. Also, the integrating multi-channel analog front-end with the adaptive spike detection together with multi-sensor arrays can be considered as a further research, fabrication, and test.

Bibliography

- A. C. Hoogerwerf and K. D. Wise, "A three-dimensional microelectrode array for chronic neural recording," IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering, vol. 41, pp. 1136-1146, Dec. 1994.
- [2] C. T. Nordhausen, E. M. Maynard, and R. A. Normann, "Single unit redording capabilities of a 100-microelectrode array," Brain Res., vol. 726, pp. 129-140, 1996.
- [3] Reid R. Harrison, Paul T. Watkins et al., "A low-power integrated circuit for a wireless 100-electrode neural recording system," IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits, Vol.42, No.1, Jan. 2007.
- [4] Agnew WF, McCreery DB, "Neural Prostheses, Fundamental Studies," Prentice-Hall, 1990.
- [5] Brindley GS, Lewin WS, "The sensations produced by electrical stimulation of the visual cortex," J. Physiology 196, 479-493, 1968.
- [6] Della Santina CC, Kovacs GTA, Lewis.E.R.,
 "Multi-unit recording from regenerated bullfrog eighth nerve using implantable silicon-substrate microelectrodes," J Neurosci Methods 72: 71-86, 1997.

- [7] White RL, "Review of current status of cochlear prostheses," IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng. 29: pp. 233-238, 1982.
- [8] Khalsa PS, Friedman RM, Srinivasan MA, Lamotte RH. "Encoding of shape and orientation of objects indented into the monkey fingerpad by populations of slowly and rapidly adapting mechanoreceptors," J. Neurophysiol, Jun;79(6):3238-51, 1998.
- [9] Haugland M, Sinkjaer T., "Interfacing the body's own sensing receptors into neural prosthesis devices," Technol Health Care, 7(6):393-9, 1999.
- [10] Rousche PJ, Normann RA, "Chronic recording capability of the Utah Intracortical Electrode Array in cat sensory cortex," J Neurosci Methods 82: 1-15, 1998.
- [11] Rousche PJ, Normann RA, "Chronic intracortical microstimulation (ICMS) of cat sensory cortex using the Utah Intracortical Electrode Array," IEEE Trans. Rehabil. Eng 7: 56-68., 1999.
- [12] P.K.Campbell, K.E.Jones, R.J.Huber, K.W.Horch, and R.A.Normann, "A Silicon-based, three-dimensional neural interface: Manufacturing processes for an intracortical electrode array," IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng., Vol.38, No.8, pp.758-768, Aug 1991.
- [13] K.E.Jones, P.K.Campbell, and R.A.Normann, "A glass/silicon composite intracortical electrode array," Ann. Biomed. Eng., Vol. 20, pp.423-437, 1992.
- [14] Rubinstein JT, Miller CA, "How do cochlear prostheses work?," Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 9: 399-404, 1999.

- [15] Spelman FA, "The past, present, and future of cochlear prostheses," IEEE Eng. Med. Biol. Mag. 18: 27-33, 1999.
- [16] Roland JT, Jr., Fishman AJ, Waltzman SB, Alexiades G, Hoffman RA, Cohen NL, "Stability of the cochlear implant array in children," Laryngoscope 108: 1119-1123, 1998.
- [17] Parkins CW, "The bionic ear: principles and current status of cochlear prostheses," Neurosurgery 16: 853-865, 1985.
- [18] Normann RA, Maynard EM, Rousche PJ, Warren DJ, "A neural interface for a cortical vision prosthesis," Vision Res. 39: 2577-2587, 1999.
- [19] O'Connor BL, Visco DM, Brandt KD, Myers SL, Kalasinski LA, "Neurogenic acceleration of degenerative joint lesions," J. Bone Joint Surg. [Am] 67: 562-572, 1985.
- [20] O'Connor BL, Visco DM, Brandt KD, Myers SL, Kalasinski LA, "Neurogenic acceleration of osteoarthrosis: the effects of previous neurectomy of the articular nerves on the development of osteoarthrosis after transection of the anterior cruciate ligament in dogs," J Bone Joint Surg [Am] 74: 367-376, 1992.
- [21] Khalsa PS, Grigg P, "Responses of mechanoreceptor neurons in the cat knee joint capsule before and after anterior cruciate ligament transection," J. Orthop. Res. 14: 114-122, 1996.
- [22] Anderson DJ, Najafi K, Tanghe SJ, Evans DA, Levy KL, Hetke JF, Xue XL, Zappia JJ, Wise KD, "Batch-fabricated thin-film electrodes for stimulation of the central auditory system," IEEE Trans Biomed Eng 36: 693-704, 1989.

- [23] Tanghe SJ, Najafi K, Wise KD, "A Planar IrO Multichannel Stimulating Electrode for Use in Neural Prostheses," Sensors and Actuators 464-467, 1990.
- [24] Pedersen J, Ljubisavljevic M, Bergenheim M, Johansson H, "Alterations in information transmission in ensembles of primary muscle spindle afferents after muscle fatigue in heteronymous muscle," Neuroscience 84: 953-959, 1998.
- [25] Bergenheim M, Johansson H, Pedersen J, Ohberg F, Sjolander P, "Ensemble coding of muscle stretches in afferent populations containing different types of muscle afferents," Brain Res. 734: 157-166, 1996.
- [26] Ohberg F, Johansson H, Bergenheim M, Pedersen J, Djupsjobacka M, "A neural network approach to real-time spike discrimination during simultaneous recording from several multi-unit nerve filaments," J. Neurosci Methods 64: 181-187, 1996.
- [27] Johansson H, Bergenheim M, Djupsjobacka M, Sjolander P, "A method for analysis of encoding of stimulus separation in ensembles of afferents," J. Neurosci Methods 63: 67-74, 1995.
- [28] Rutten WL. "Selective electrical interfaces with the nervous system," Annu. Rev. Biomed. Eng., 4:407-52, 2002.
- [29] Branner A, Normann R, "A multielectrode array for intrafascicular recording and stimulation in sciatic nerve of cats," Brain Research Bulletin, 51:293-306, 1999.
- [30] A. F. Marks, "Bullfrog nerve regeneration into porous implants," Anatom. Rec., vol. 162, p. 226, 1969.

- [31] G.T. Kovacs, C.W. Storment, and J.M. Rosens, "Regeneration microelectrode array for peripheral nerve recording and stimulation," IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng., vol. 39, pp. 893-902, 1992.
- [32] P. Dario, P. Garzella, M. Toro, S. Micera, M. Alavi, U. Meyer, E. Valderrama, L. Sebastiani, B. Ghelarducci, C. Mazzoni, and P. Pastacaldi, "Neural Interfaces for Regenerated Nerve Stimulation and Recording," IEEE Trans. On Rehabilitation Engineering, Vol. 6, NO. 4, pp. 353-363, Dec. 1998.
- [33] Stieglitz T, Ruf HH, Gross M, Schuettler M, Meyer JU, "A biohybrid system to interface peripheral nerves after traumatic lesions: design of a high channel sieve electrode," Biosens Bioelectron, 17(8):685-96, Aug., 2002.
- [34] R.B. Stein, T.R. Nichols, "stable Long-term Recordings from Cat Peripheral Nerves," Brain Res., 128, pp. 21-38, 1977.
- [35] G.E. Loeb, R.A. Peck, "Cuff Electrodes for Chronic Stimulation and Recording of peripheral nerve Activity," J. Neurosci. Methods, 64(1), pp. 95-103, 1996.
- [36] W.M. Grill, J.T., Mortimer, "Stability of the Input-Output properties of Chronically Implanted Multiple Contact nerve Cuff Stimulating Electrodes," IEEE Trans. Rehab. Eng., 6(4), pp. 364-373, 1990.
- [37] M. Sahin; D. Durand, "Improved nerve cuff electrode recordings with subthreshold anodic currents," IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering, Volume: 45 Issue: 8, pp. 1044 .1050, Aug 1998.
- [38] Smit J.P., Rutten WL, Boom HB., "Endoneural selective stimulating using wiremicroelectrode arrays," IEEE Trans. Rehab. Eng., 7(4):399-412, 1999.

- [39] Ceballos D, Valero-Cabre A, Valderrama E, Schuttler M, Stieglitz T, Navarro X., "Morphologic and functional evaluation of peripheral nerve fibers regenerated through polyimide sieve electrodes over long-term implantation," J. Biomed. Mater. Res., 15;60(4):517-28, Jun, 2002.
- [40] Valero-Cabre A, Navarro X., "Functional impact of axonal misdirection after peripheral nerve injuries followed by graft or tube repair," J. Neurotrauma., 19(11):1475-85, Nov, 2002.
- [41] Schuettler M, Riso RR, Dalmose A, Stefania D, Stieglitz T., "Selective stimulation of pig radial nerve: comparison of 12-polar and 18-polar cuff electrodes," Biomed Tech (Berl), 47 Suppl 1 Pt 2:696-9, 2002.
- [42] D.J. Tyler, D. M. Durand, "Functionally Selective Peripheral Nerve Stimulation with a Flat Interface Nerve Electrode," IEEE Trans. On Neural Sys. And Rehab. Eng., Vol. 10, No. 4, p. 294, 2002.
- [43] Choi AQ, Cavanaugh JK, Durand DM, "Selectivity of multiple-contact nerve cuff electrodes: a simulation analysis," IEEE Trans Biomed Eng., 48(2):165-72, Feb, 2001.
- [44] Yoo PB, Durand DM, "Selective recording of the canine hypoglossal nerve using a multicontact flat interface nerve electrode," IEEE Trans Biomed Eng., 52(8):1461-1469, Aug, 2005.
- [45] Polasek,K.H., Hoyen,H.A., Kirsch,R.F., Tyler,D.J., "Intraoperative testing of selectivity of spiral nerve cuff electrodes," 26th Anual International Conference of the IEEE EMBS, Vol. 2, pp.4137-4140, Sept., 2004.

- [46] Anandh Dhanushkodi and Ashok K. Shetty, "Is exposure to enriched environment beneficial for functional post-lesional recovery in temporal lobe epilepsy?," Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews, Vol.32, Issue 4, pp.657-674, 2008.
- [47] Marc Maegele, Marcela Lippert-Gruener et al., "Reversal of Neuromotor and Cognitive Dysfunction in an Enriched Environment Combined with Multimodal Early Onset Stimulation after Traumatic Brain Injury in Rats," Journal of Neurotrauma, 22(7):772-782, July 2005.
- [48] H.M.Hamer, H.H.Morris et al., "Complications of invasive video-EEG monitoring with subdural grid electrodes," Neurology, 58:97-103, 2002.
- [49] B.E.Swartz, J.R.Rich, P.S.Dwan, A.DeSalles, M.H.Kaufman, G.O.Walsh, and A.V.Delgado-Escueta, "The safety and efficacy of chronically implanted subdural electrodes: a prospective study," Epilepsy, Vol.46, pp.87-93, 1996.
- [50] H. Yu, R. H. Olsson III, K. D. Wise, and K. Najafi, "A wireless microsystem for multichannel neural recording microprobes," in Proc. Solid-State Sensor, Actuator, and Microsystems Workshop, Jun. 2004, pp. 107.110.
- [51] R.H. Olsson, K.D. Wise, "A three-dimensional neural recording microsystem with implantable data compression circuitry," IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, Vol.40, Issue 12, P.2796 - 2804, Dec. 2005.
- [52] P. Mohseni, K. Najafi, S.J. Eliades, Xiaoqin Wang, "Wireless multichannel biopotential recording using an integrated FM telemetry circuit," IEEE

Transactions on Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering, Vol. 13, Issue 3, P.263 - 271, Sept. 2005.

- [53] I. Obeid, J.C. Morizio, K.A. Moxon, M.A.L. Nicolelis, P.D. Wolf, "Two multichannel integrated circuits for neural recording and signal processing," IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering, Vol.50, Issue 2, P.255 - 258, Feb. 2003.
- [54] Chung-Chiun Liu, E. O'Connor , K.P. Strohl, "A multichannel, wireless telemetric microsystem for small animal studies," IEEE Sensors Journal, Vol.6, Issue 1, P.187 - 202, Feb. 2006.
- [55] S. Takeuchi and I. Shimoyama, "A radio-telemetry system with a shape memory alloy microelectrode for neural recording of freely moving in- sects," IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng., vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 133.137, Jan. 2004.
- [56] G. A. DeMichele and P. R. Troyk, "Integrated multichannel wireless biotelemetry system," in Proc. 25th Annu. Int. Conf. Engineering in Medicine and Biology Soc., vol. 4, Sep. 2003, pp. 3372.3375.
- [57] A. Nieder, "Miniature stereo radio transmitter for simultaneous recording of multiple single-neuron signals from behaving owls," J. Neurosci. Meth., vol. 101, pp. 157.164, 2000.
- [58] J. Parramon, P. Doguet, D. Martin, M. Verleyssen, R. Munoz, L. Leija, and E. Valderrama, "ASIC-based batteryless implantable telemetry microsystem for recording purposes," in Proc. 19th Int. IEEE-EMBS Conf., Chicago, IL, Oct. 30.Nov. 2 1997, pp. 2225.2228.

- [59] E. A. Johannessen et al., "Implementation of multichannel sensors for remote biomedical measurements in a microsystems format," IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng., vol. 51, no. 3, pp. 525.535, Mar. 2004.
- [60] Zihong Liu, Pengsheng Huang, Zhihua Wang, Lei Feng, Chun Zhang, Dongmei Li, Shangkai Gao, Xindong Song, "Full custom design of the interface for an in vitro neural biosensor," IEEE Midwest Symposium on Circuits and Systems, P.1306 1309, Vol. 22005, 2005.
- [61] R. J. Vetter, J. C. Williams, J. F. Hetke, E. A. Nunamaker, and D. R. Kipke, "Chronic neural recording using silicon-substrate microelectrode arrays implanted in cerebral cortex," IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng., vol. 51, pp. 896-904, 2004.
- [62] Wentai Liu, M. Sivaprakasam, Guoxing Wang, Mingcui Zhou, J. Granacki, J. Lacoss, J. Wills, "Implantable biomimetic microelectronic systems design," IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Magazine, Vol. 24, Issue 5, P.66 74, Sept.-Oct. 2005.
- [63] Hao Yu, K. Najafi, "Circuitry for a wireless microsystem for neural recording microprobes,", IEEE International Conference on Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society, Vol.1, P.761 - 764, Oct. 25-28, 2001.
- [64] C. Chestek, P. Samsukha, M. Tabib-Azar, R. Harrison, H. Chiel, and S. Garverick, "Wireless multi-channel sensor for neurodynamic studies," In: Proceedings of the 3rd IEEE Conference on Sensors, pp. 915-918, Vienna, Austria, 2004.

- [65] T. Akin, K. Najafi, R.M. Bradley, "A wireless implantable multichannel digital neural recording system for a micromachined sieve electrode," IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, Vol.33, Issue 1, P.109 - 118, Jan. 1998.
- [66] Linderman MD, Gilja V, Santhanam G, Afshar A, Ryu SI, Meng TH, Shenoy KV (2006, poster) "An autonomous, broadband, multi-channel neural recording system for freely behaving primates," Proc. of the 28th Annual International Conf. of the IEEE EMBS, New York, NY: 1212-1215.
- [67] AD instrument Wireless Bioelectrical Transmitter (Small), "http://www.adinstruments.com/products/".
- [68] Neuro Nexus, "http://www.neuronexustech.com/".
- [69] Cyber Kinetics, "http://www.cyberkineticsinc.com/content/index.jsp".
- [70] Triangle Biosystems, "http://www.tbsi.biz/headstages.html".
- [71] N.Ando, I.Shimoyama, and R.Kanzaki, "A dual-channel FM transmitter for acquisition of flight muscle activities from the freely flying hawkmoth, agrius convolvuli," J. Neurosci. Meth., Vol.115, pp.181-187, 2002.
- [72] M. S. J. Steyaert, W. M. C. Sansen, and C. Zhongyuan, "A Micropower Low-Noise Monolithic Instrumentation Amplifier for Medical Purposes," IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits, vol. SC-22, no. 6, Dec. 1987, pp. 1163-1168.
- [73] J. Ji and K. D. Wise, "An Implantable CMOS Circuit Interface for Multiplexed Microelectrode Recording Arrays," IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits, vol. SC-27, no. 3, Mar. 1992, pp. 433-443.

- [74] Honglei Wu and Yong Ping Xu, "A 1V 2.3uW Biomedical Signal Acquisition IC," IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference, Feb. 2006.
- [75] P. Mohseni and K. Najafi, "A Low Power Fully Integrated Bandpass Operational Amplifier for Biomedical Neural Recording Applications," Proc. of Second Joint EMBS/BMES Conf., Houston, Oct. 23-26, 2002, pp. 2111-2112.
- [76] P. Mohseni and K. Najafi, "A Fully Integrated Neural Recording Amplifier With DC Input Stabilization," IEEE trans. Biomedical Engineering, vol. 51, No. 5, May 2004.
- [77] Christopher D. Salthouse and Rahul Sarpeshkar, "A Practical Micropower Programmable Bandpass Fliter for Use in Bionic Ears," IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits, vol. 38, No. 1, January 2003.
- [78] Rahul Sarpeshkar, Christopher Salthouse, Ji-Jon Sit, Michael W. Baker, Serhii M. Zhak, Timothy K.-T. Lu, Lorenzo Turicchia, and Stephanie Balster, "An Ultra-Low-Power Programmable Analog Bionic Ear Processor," IEEE Trans. Biomedical Engineering, Vol. 52, No. 4, April 2005.
- [79] Adel S. Sedra and Kenneth C. Smith, "Microelectronic circuits," Fifth edition, Oxford university express, 2004.
- [80] Lloyd Watts, Carver A. Mead et al., "Improved Implementation of the Silicon Cochlea," IEEE JSSC, Vol. 27, No. 5, May 1992.
- [81] T. Delbruck, "Bump Circuits for computing similarity and dissimilarity of analog voltages," May 24, 1993, CNS MEMO 26, California Institute of Technology.

- [82] Rahul Sarpeshkar, Carver Mead, "A low-power widelinear-range transconductance amplifier," Analog integrated circuits and signal processing, 13, 123-151, 1997.
- [83] Anand Veeravalli, Edgar Sanchez-Sinencio, and Jose Silva-Martinez, "Transconductance amplifier structures with very small transconductance: a comparative design approach," IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits, 2002, 37, (6) pp. 770-775.
- [84] A. Arnaud and C. Galup-Montoro, "Pico-A/V range CMOS transconductances using series-parallel current division," IEE Electronic letters, Vol. 39, No. 18, 4th September 2003.
- [85] Robert Rieger, Andreas Demosthenous, and John Taylor, "A 230-nW 10-s Time Constants CMOS Integrator for an Adaptive Nerve Signal Amplifier," IEEE JSSC, Vol. 39, No. 11, November 2004.
- [86] Janos Markus, Jose Silva, and Gabor C. Temes, "Theory and Applications of Incremental ΔΣ Converters," IEEE Transactions on circuits and systems-1: Regular papers, Vol. 51, No. 4, April 2004.
- [87] Janos Markus, "Higherorder incremental delta-sigma analog-to-digital converters," Ph.D. dissertation, Budapest University of Technology and Economics, Department of Measurement and Information Systems, Budapest, Hungary, Mar. 2005.
- [88] John G. Webster, "Biopoential and electrodes," Department of Biomedical Engineering, University of Wisconsin, Madison, WI.
- [89] Harrison, R.R., "A Versatile Integrated Circuit for the Acquisition of Biopotentials," IEEE Conference on Custom Integrated Circuits, pp.115-122, Sep., 2007.
- [90] A.Mortara and O. Landolt, "Accurate low voltage analogue CMOS timer for mixed-signal integrated circuits," Electronics Letters, Vol.32, No.24, Nov. 1996.
- [91] P. Yevgeny and G. Ran, "An integrated system for multichannel neuronal recording with spike/LFP separation, integrated A/D conversion and threshold detection," IEEE Transactions on biomedical engineering, Vol.54, No.1, Jan. 2007.
- [92] A. P. Chandran, K. Najafi, and K. D. Wise, "A new DC baseline stabilization scheme for neural recording microprobes," in Proc. 1st Joint EMBS/BMES Conf. Atlanta, GA, Oct. 13-16, 1999.
- [93] R. R. Harrison and C. Charles, "A Low-Power Low-Noise CMOS Amplifier for Neural Recording Applications," IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits, Vol.38, No.6, June 2003.
- [94] K. Najafi and K. D. Wise, "An implantable multielectrode array with on-chip signal processing," IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits, Vol.SC-21, PP.1035-1044, Dec. 1986.
- [95] C. Charles and R. R. Harrison, "A Floating Gate Common Mode Feedback Circuit for Low Noise Amplifier," IEEE Southwest Symposium on Mixed Signal Design, pp.180-185, Las Vegas, USA, Feb. 2003.
- [96] P. Rombouts, W. Wilde, and L. Weyten, "A 13.5-b 1.2-V Micropower Extended Counting A/D Converter," IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits, Vol. 36, No. 2, Feb. 2001.

- [97] L. Sumanen, M. Waltari, K. Halonen, "A 10-bit 200-MS/s CMOS Parallel Pipeline," IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits, Vol. 36, No. 7, Jul. 2001.
- [98] W. F. Agnew and D. B. McCreery, Neural Prostheses, Fundamental Studies, New York: Prentice-Hall, 1990.
- [99] R. P. Wider, E. V. Jones, T. C. Wind and R. F. Edlich, "Functional electrical stimulation cycle ergometer exercise for spinal cord injured patients," Journal of Long Term Effects of Medical Implants, 12(3), pp. 161-74, 2002.
- [100] C. Charles and R. R. Harrison, "A Floating Gate Common Mode Feedback Circuit for Low Noise Amplifier," IEEE Southwest Symposium on Mixed Signal Design, pp.180-185, Las Vegas, USA, Feb. 2003.
- [101] A. Veeravalli, E. Sanchez-Sinencio, and J. Silva-Martinez, "Transconductance amplifier structures with very small transconductances: A comparative design approach," IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits, Vol. 37, No. 6, pp. 530-532, May 23 2002.
- [102] J. Ji and K. D. Wise, "An implantable CMOS circuit interface for multiplexed microelectrode recording arrays," IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits, vol. 27, pp. 433-443, Mar. 1992.
- [103] A. P. Chandran, K. Najafi, and K. D. Wise, "A new DC baseline stabilization scheme for neural recording microprobes," in Proc. 1st Joint EMBS/BMES Conf. Atlanta, GA, Oct. 13-16, 1999.

- [104] P. Mohseni and K. Najafi, "A Fully Integrated Neural Recording Amplifier with DC Input Stabilization," IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering, Vol.51, No.5, May 2004.
- [105] T. Delbruck and C. A. Mead, "Analog VLSI Adaptive, logarithmic wide dynamic range photoreceptor," in Proceeding of IEEE International Symposium on Circuits and Systems, Vol.4, 1994.
- [106] J. Huijsing, R. Plassche, and W. Sansen, Analog Circuit Design, Kluwer Academic Publishers, 1993.
- [107] Massachusetts Institute of Technology Lincoln Laboratory, MITLL low-power FDSOI CMOS process: Design guide, September 2006.
- [108] D. Flandre, J. P. Colinge, J. Chen, D. De. Ceuster, J. P. Eggermont, L. Ferreira, B. Gentinne, P. G. A. Jespers and A. Viviani, "Fully-depleted SOI CMOS technology for low-voltage low-power mixed digital/analog/microwave circuits," Analog Integrated Circuits and Signal Processing, vol.21, pp. 213-228, Dec. 1999.
- [109] J. P. Colinge, "Fully-Depleted SOI CMOS for Analog Applications," IEEE Transaction on Electron Devices, vol. 45, no. 5, May 1998.
- [110] "MITLL Low-Power FDSOI CMOS Process Device Models," Revision 2006:2, Sept. 2006.
- [111] T.Tanzawa, T.Tanaka, K.Takeuchi, and H.Nakamura, "Circuit technologies for a single-1.8V flash memory," IEEE Symposium on VLSI Circuits Digest of Technical Papers, pp.63-64, June 1997.

- [112] Jieh-Tsong Wu and Kuen-Long Chang, "MOS Charge Pumps for Low-Voltage Operation," IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, Volume 33, No.4, April 1998.
- [113] J.F.Dickson, "On-chip high-voltage generation in MNOS integrated circuits using an improved voltage multiplier technique," IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, Volume 11, pp.374-378, June 1976.
- [114] Y.Nakagome et al., "An Experimental 1.5V 64Mb DRAM," IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, Volume 26, No.4, April 1991.
- [115] K.Lasanen, V.Korkala, E.Raisanen-Ruotsalainen, and J.Kostamovaara, "Design of A 1-V Low Power CMOS Bandgap Reference Based on Resistive Subdivision," IEEE International Midwest Symposium on Circuits and Systems, Volume 3, August 2002.
- [116] Siew Kuok Hoon, Jun Chen, and Franco Maloberti, "An Improved Bandgap Reference with High Power Supply Rejection," IEEE International Conference on Circuit and Systems, Volume 5, 2002.
- [117] Luis H.C.Ferreira, Tales C.Pimenta, and Robinson L.Moreno, "An Ultra Low-Voltage Ultra Low-Power CMOS Threshold Voltage Reference," IEICE Transactions on Electronics, Volume E90-C, No.10, pp.2044-2050, October 2007.
- [118] Yamu Hu, Mohamad Sawan, and Mourad N.El-Gamal, "An Integrated Power Recovery Module Dedicated to Implantable Electronic Devices," Analog Integrated Circuits and Signal Processing, 43, 171-181, 2005.

- [119] Tobi Delbruck and Andre Van Schaik, "Bias Current Generators with Wide Dynamic Range," Analog Integrated Circuis and Signal Processing, 43, 247-268, 2005.
- [120] P.R.Gray, P.J.Hurst, S.H.Lewis, and R.G.Meyer, "Analysis and Design of Analog Integrated Circuits," Fourth edition, John Wiley, 2001.
- [121] David A. Johns and Ken Martin, "Analog Integrated Cicruit Design," John Wiley, 1997.
- [122] E. Vittoz and J. Fellrath, "CMOS analog integrated circuits based on weak inversion operation," IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, Volume 12, pp.224-231, 1977.
- [123] Christian Sauer, Milutin Stanacevic, Gert Cauwenberghs, and Nitsh Thakor, "Power Harvesting and Telemetry in CMOS for Implanted Devices," IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I, Volume 52, Issue 12, pp.2605-2613, December 2005.
- [124] Yannis P. Tsividis and Richard W. Ulmer, "A CMOS Voltage Reference," IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, Volume SC-13, No. 6, December 1978.
- [125] P.Irazoqui-Pastor, I.Mody, and J.W.Judy, "In-vivo EEG recording using a wireless implantable neural transceiver," in Proc. 1st Int. Conf. Neural Engineering, pp.622-625, March 2003.
- [126] P.Mohseni and K.Najafi, "A wireless FM multi-channel microsystem for biomedical neural recording applications," in Proc. Mixed-Signal Design, Southwest Symp., pp.217-222, Feb. 2003.

- [127] Ultra Low Power Bluetooth Technology, "http://bluetooth.com/Bluetooth/Products/lowpower.htm".
- [128] J.A.M.Jarvinen, M.Saukoski, K.Halonen, "A 12-bit
 Ratio-Independent Algorithmic ADC for a Capacitive Sensor Interface," IEEE
 International Symposium on Circuits and Systems, pp 1713-1716, May. 2007.
- [129] Xiao Yun, Donghwi Kim, Milutin Stanacevic, Zachary Mainen, "Low-Power High-Resolution 32-channel Neural Recording System," IEEE 29th Annual International Conference of the Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society, pp. 2373-2376, Aug. 2007.
- [130] Xiao Yun and Milutin Stanacevic, "Extended counting ADC for 32-channel neural recording headstage for small animals," IEEE International Symposium on Circuit and Systems, pp.2510-2513, May. 2008.
- [131] Iyad Obeid and Patrick D.Wolf, "Evaluation of Spike-Detection Algorithms for a Brain-Machine Interface Application," IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering, Vol.51, No.6, June 2004.
- [132] Reid R. Harrison, "A Low-Power Integrated Circuit for Adaptive Detection of Action Potentials in Noise Signals," Proceedings of the 25th Annual International Conference of the IEEE EMBS, Cancun, Mexico, September 17-21, 2003.
- [133] P.T.Watkins, G.Santhanam, K.V.Shenoy, R.R.Harrison, "Validation of Adaptive Threshold Spike Detector for Neural Recording," Proceedings of the 26th Annual International Conference of the IEEE EMBS, San Francisco, CA, USA, September 1-5, 2004.

- [134] Charles M. Higgins, Vivek Pant, and Rainer Deutschmann, "Analog VLSI Implementation of Spatio-Temporal Frequency Tuned Visual Motion Algorithms," IEEE Transactions on Circuit and Systems, Vol.52, No.3, March 2005.
- [135] "Chapter 16, Active Filter Design Techniques, excerpted from OP Amps for Everyone," Texas Instruments.
- [136] Iyad Obeid, "A Wireless Multichannel Neural Recording Platform for Real-Time Brain Machine Interfaces," Dissertation, Duke University, 2004.
- [137] Klaus Finkenzeller, "RFID Handbook: Fundamentals and Applications in Contactless Smart Cards and Identification," 2nd edition, John Wiley, 2003.
- [138] R.Schaumann, M.S.Ghausi, and K.R.Laker, "Design of Analog Filters: Passive, Active-RC, and Switched Capacitor," Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall, 1990.
- [139] T.Deliyannis, Y.Sun, and J.K.Fidler, "Continuous-Time Active Filter Design," Boca Raton, FL: CRC, 1999.
- [140] H.W.Su and Y.Sun, "Performance analysis and comparison of multiple loop feedback OTA-C filters," Int.J.Circuits, Syst. and Comput., vol.14, no.4, 2005.
- [141] Yichuang Sun, "Synthesis of Leap-Frog Multiple-Loop Feedback OTA-C Filters," IEEE Transactions on Circuit and Systems-II: Express Brief, Vol.53, No.9, September 2006.